
 

 

 
 
Notice of Meeting of 
 
STANDARDS COMMITTEE 

 
Wednesday, 28 June 2023 at 2.00 pm 
 
Luttrell Room - County Hall, Taunton TA1 4DY 
 
To: The members of the Standards Committee 
 
Chair:  Councillor John Bailey 
Vice-chair:  Councillor Brian Smedley 
 
Councillor Hugh Davies Councillor Martin Dimery 
Councillor Frances Nicholson Robin Horton 
Alan Hemsley Paul Hooper 
David Stripp  
 

 
For further information about the meeting, including how to join the meeting virtually, 
please contact Democratic Services democraticservicesteam@somerset.gov.uk. 
 
All members of the public are welcome to attend our meetings and ask questions or 
make a statement by giving advance notice in writing or by e-mail to the Monitoring 
Officer at email: democraticservicesteam@somerset.gov.uk by 5pm on Thursday, 22 
June 2023. 
 
This meeting will be open to the public and press, subject to the passing of any 
resolution under the Local Government Act 1972, Schedule 12A: Access to Information.  
 
The meeting will be webcast and an audio recording made. 
 

Public Agenda Pack

mailto:democraticservicesteam@somerset.gov.uk


 

 

Issued by (the Proper Officer) on Tuesday, 20 June 2023 
 



 

 

AGENDA 
 

Standards Committee - 2.00 pm Wednesday, 28 June 2023 
  
Public Guidance Notes contained in Agenda Annexe (Pages 5 - 6) 

  
Click here to join the online meeting (Pages 7 - 8) 

  
1   Apologies for Absence  

 
To receive any apologies for absence. 

  
2   Minutes from the Previous Meeting (Pages 9 - 14) 

 
To approve the minutes of the Standards Committee meeting held on 19 April 2023. 

  
3   Declarations of Interest (Pages 15 - 16) 

 
To receive and note any declarations of disclosable pecuniary, other registerable 
interests or non-registerable interests in respect of any matters included on the 
agenda for consideration at this meeting. 

  
4   Public Question Time  

 
The Chair to advise the Committee of any items on which members of the public 
have requested to speak and advise those members of the public present of the 
details of the Council’s public participation scheme. 

For those members of the public who have submitted any questions or statements, 
please note, a three minute time limit applies to each speaker and you will be asked 
to speak before Councillors debate the issue. 

We are now live webcasting most of our committee meetings and you are welcome 
to view and listen to the discussion. The link to each webcast will be available on the 
meeting webpage, please see details under ‘click here to join online meeting’. 

  



 

 

5   Priority Group 1 - Code of Conduct Complaints Process and Media Plan (Pages 
17 - 92) 
 
To receive an update on the work of the Priority Group 1 which had been looking at 
the Code of Conduct complaints process and the media plan. 
  
  

6   Priority Group 1 - Committee & Sub-Committee Composition (Pages 93 - 98) 
 
To receive an update report on the work of Priority Group 1 who looked at the 
composition of the Committee and Hearing Sub-Committees. 
  

7   Priority Groups 2 & 3 - Model Code of Conduct Adoption by City, Town & 
Parish Councils and Review of Officer Code of Conduct (Pages 99 - 110) 
 
To receive an update on the work of the Priority Groups 2 & 3 which had been 
looking at the Codes of Conduct for both members and officers. 
  

8   Future Business  
 
To consider the Committee’s work programme. 
  

9   Code of Conduct Complaints Update (Pages 111 - 114) 
 
To receive an update on the number of Code of Conduct complaints received since 
the creation of the new Somerset Council. 
  



Page 5

Agenda Annex

mailto:democraticservicesteam@somerset.gov.uk
https://democracy.somerset.gov.uk/mgListCommittees.aspx?bcr=1
https://democracy.somerset.gov.uk/mgListCommittees.aspx?bcr=1
https://democracy.somerset.gov.uk/documents/s174/Part%20H2%20-%20Members%20Code%20of%20Conduct.pdf
mailto:democraticservicesteam@somerset.gov.uk


Page 6



Microsoft Teams meeting  

 

Join on your computer, mobile app or room device  
Click here to join the meeting  
Meeting ID: 354 202 434 088  
Passcode: 5urCtV  
Download Teams | Join on the web 
 
Or call in (audio only)  
+44 1823 772277,,182253986#   United Kingdom, Taunton  
Phone Conference ID: 182 253 986#  
Find a local number  
 

Page 7

Agenda Annex

https://eur01.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/ap/t-59584e83/?url=https%3A%2F%2Fteams.microsoft.com%2Fl%2Fmeetup-join%2F19%253ameeting_NDAxNmIwY2EtZGJkZS00ZDBhLWFmZmItYWRhYTNjNzU3ZWIx%2540thread.v2%2F0%3Fcontext%3D%257b%2522Tid%2522%253a%2522b524f606-f77a-4aa2-8da2-fe70343b0cce%2522%252c%2522Oid%2522%253a%2522be753587-8c25-44a0-8666-6f585f83d52c%2522%257d&data=05%7C01%7Csteve.taylor%40somerset.gov.uk%7C4827b3f2e246430c11ad08db576b1bd5%7Cb524f606f77a4aa28da2fe70343b0cce%7C0%7C0%7C638199889764313440%7CUnknown%7CTWFpbGZsb3d8eyJWIjoiMC4wLjAwMDAiLCJQIjoiV2luMzIiLCJBTiI6Ik1haWwiLCJXVCI6Mn0%3D%7C3000%7C%7C%7C&sdata=iJJZ5xJJATHsundAtl0dgB4G3SGBLDWKtdAlJDPL5Ao%3D&reserved=0
https://eur01.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/?url=https%3A%2F%2Fwww.microsoft.com%2Fen-us%2Fmicrosoft-teams%2Fdownload-app&data=05%7C01%7Csteve.taylor%40somerset.gov.uk%7C4827b3f2e246430c11ad08db576b1bd5%7Cb524f606f77a4aa28da2fe70343b0cce%7C0%7C0%7C638199889764469751%7CUnknown%7CTWFpbGZsb3d8eyJWIjoiMC4wLjAwMDAiLCJQIjoiV2luMzIiLCJBTiI6Ik1haWwiLCJXVCI6Mn0%3D%7C3000%7C%7C%7C&sdata=jbAqxHa27TrjxgKz4CSiu6IIC4RROurwe3JcQsFinQE%3D&reserved=0
https://eur01.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/?url=https%3A%2F%2Fwww.microsoft.com%2Fmicrosoft-teams%2Fjoin-a-meeting&data=05%7C01%7Csteve.taylor%40somerset.gov.uk%7C4827b3f2e246430c11ad08db576b1bd5%7Cb524f606f77a4aa28da2fe70343b0cce%7C0%7C0%7C638199889764469751%7CUnknown%7CTWFpbGZsb3d8eyJWIjoiMC4wLjAwMDAiLCJQIjoiV2luMzIiLCJBTiI6Ik1haWwiLCJXVCI6Mn0%3D%7C3000%7C%7C%7C&sdata=ZKapDp%2FeP32KpK1zLD5DNDKcsOKNVmaB%2FwT%2B087Mpcw%3D&reserved=0
tel:+441823772277,,182253986#
https://eur01.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/?url=https%3A%2F%2Fdialin.teams.microsoft.com%2F4e217883-910c-4f2a-a890-19f4d750e93c%3Fid%3D182253986&data=05%7C01%7Csteve.taylor%40somerset.gov.uk%7C4827b3f2e246430c11ad08db576b1bd5%7Cb524f606f77a4aa28da2fe70343b0cce%7C0%7C0%7C638199889764469751%7CUnknown%7CTWFpbGZsb3d8eyJWIjoiMC4wLjAwMDAiLCJQIjoiV2luMzIiLCJBTiI6Ik1haWwiLCJXVCI6Mn0%3D%7C3000%7C%7C%7C&sdata=mGlqrDEYYrppfcpYUtQ%2FEFyyIeJQZsVFaTf%2BMG4NQlI%3D&reserved=0


This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

 
 
Minutes of a Meeting of the Standards Committee held in the Luttrell Room - County 
Hall, Taunton TA1 4DY, on Wednesday, 19 April 2023 at 10.00 am 
 
Present: 
 
Cllr John Bailey (Chair) 
  
 
Cllr Hugh Davies Cllr Martin Dimery 
Cllr Frances Nicholson Cllr Brian Smedley 
Alan Hemsley David Stripp 
  
1 Apologies for Absence - Agenda Item 1 

 
It was noted that co-opted members Mr Horton, and Mr Hooper were absent.   
The Chair asked also those in the meeting room to introduce themselves. 
  

2 Minutes from the last meeting - 2 February 2023 - Agenda Item 2 
 
The minutes of the meeting held on Wednesday 2 February 2023 were agreed as a 
correct record. 
  
  

3 Declarations of Interest - Agenda Item 3 
 
Members of the Standards Committee declared the following personal interests in 
their capacity as a Member of a District, City/Town or Parish Council: 
  

Cllr B Smedley - Bridgwater Town Council. 
  
  

4 Public Question Time - Agenda Item 4 
 
There were no petitions presented or questions/statements asked by members of the 
public. 
  
  

Public Agenda Pack

Page 9

Agenda Item 2



 

 

5 Officer support for the Standards Committee - Agenda Item 5 
 
The Chair began by reflecting on the huge amount of work that had been undertaken 
by the Committee and the support provided by a group of Officers prior to the new 
Council being formed on 1 April. He thanked Mrs Randell, Mr Wooldridge and Mr 
Melhuish for their efforts and their work to help and support the Committee. He also 
thanked both Mr Woodhams and Mrs Wellman for their work in support of the 
Committee and providing legal advice and he wished them well for their new roles, 
working with other Local Authorities.  
  
The Chair asked about the Officers that would be supporting the Committee for the 
forthcoming meetings and he asked the Monitoring Officer, Mr Wooldridge, to 
provide an update on those arrangements. Mr Wooldridge explained that interim 
arrangements had been put in place, across the Democratic Services team, to 
ensure support was provided for the Council’s democratic function, pending 
completion of the final team structure and staffing arrangements.  
  
Members heard that for the interim period Mr Taylor would be the Clerk to the 
Committee and Mr Clark would attend as the new Monitoring officer should his 
appointment be confirmed at the next Full Council meeting in May. Mr Clark further 
explained that the remit of the new Council would include overseeing standards for 
all the Town and Parish Councils in Somerset, and a number of Deputy Monitoring 
Officers would be appointed to assist him and the Committee in overseeing this 
work. Mr Clark also confirmed that once the staffing arrangements of the democratic 
services team had been finalised, the officers designated to support the Committee 
would be shared with Members. 
  
The Chair suggested and it was agreed that Mr Clark would confirm the officer 
support arrangements when they had been finalised. 
  

6 Update on the work of the Priority Groups - Agenda Item 6 
 
The Chair began by reminding the meeting that the Committee had agreed to 
consider specific areas and 3 groups had completed deep dive reviews. The group 
known as P1 had looked to establish the procedure for the Investigation and Hearing 
process, should the Monitoring Officer decide that a Code of Conduct complaint 
about a Member of the Somerset Council or a Town/Parish Council merited 
investigation. The P2 group had looked at how that Code of Conduct, which was the 
Local Government Association (LGA) model, could be adopted by all the Councils in 
Somerset (approx. 279) thus helping to ensure all Councils were following the same 
policy. The P3 Group had been looking at refreshing the Officer Code of Conduct. 
The Monitoring Officer noted that the papers were all new draft documents that the 

Page 10



 

 

Committee could recommend for adoption to the new Council. He noted that Paper 
1, reflected the work that had been done through one of the Local Government 
Reorganisation work streams, and this had looked at each of the complaints 
procedures of the 5 former Councils in Somerset and the P1 Group had sought to 
develop a new document to capture best practice.  
  
The Monitoring Officer noted that that the P1 Group had considered and deliberated 
in some detail the ‘How to make a complaint’ guidance notes document (Paper 2); 
the ‘Complaints about Councillors process – flow chart’ (Paper 3) and the draft 
‘Media Protocol’ (Paper 4) to set out how the Council would deal with media 
enquires about standards matters. Paper 5 was an extract from the Constitution 
about how Sub-Committees of the Committee would work as Hearing Sub-
Committees in determining complaints that had reached that stage. 
  
The Monitoring Officer explained they were being presented for consideration and it 
would be for Members to decide to recommend them for approval by the Council or 
if they required further work which they could undertake with the new Monitoring 
Officer. He noted the new Council's constitution had been agreed last February and 
the current complaints process and guidance notes were fit for purpose and would 
remain in place until such time as they were changed.  
  
The Chair suggested that Paper 1 be accepted and considered at the next meeting 
once the Committee had time to consider and were content with Papers 2 to 4.  
There was a brief discussion that included the procedure for establishing if a 
complainant was vexatious and how the media protocols would work in practice, 
including publicising a determination of a complaint. 
  
In respect of the P1 group, it was agreed that Papers 1 to 4 would be reviewed and 
considered again at the next meeting to be held on 28 June.   
  
Regarding the work of the P2 group the Chair invited Mr Hemsley to provide the 
Committee with an update and he spoke to a spreadsheet that was displayed 
visually to the meeting. The spreadsheet provided information to show which Local 
Community Network (LCN) each Town or Parish Council had been allocated to and 
the former District Council area and if they had considered and adopted the LGA 
model Code of Conduct. It was noted that some Councils had adopted the Code but 
that sometimes the Somerset Association of Local Councils (SALC) had not been 
informed. All Councils were required to have a Code of Conduct and Somerset 
Council itself had adopted and had recommended that the LGA model Code of 
Conduct be adopted by the 279 Town and Parish Councils. The Council could not 
enforce, oblige or require the Town and Parish Councils to adopt the LGA model 
Code but was encouraging adoption so all Somerset communities could benefit 

Page 11



 

 

from having a single Code of Conduct that would be applied to all Councillors across 
the County.  
  
There was a brief discussion about how best to engage with Town and Parish 
Councils and it was noted that LCN’s were not the only way of engaging and 
Somerset Councillors were good ambassadors for their areas. It was suggested and 
agreed that the P2 group would meet outside of the meeting to progress this issue. 
It was suggested that a document from Mrs Wellman be circulated to the 
Committee.   
  
Regarding the work of the P3 group Cllr Dimery and Mr Hemsley noted they had held 
a meeting with an Officer in the Council’s HR department to discuss the Officer 
Code of Conduct and they had identified some potential amendments to the Code 
that had been adopted by the Council last February. The Monitoring Officer noted 
that by the next meeting he would be able to report on if those amendments fell 
within the scope of the delegations that allowed him to make amendments to the 
Code. 
  
For Cllr Nicholson to have a briefing with the Chair and MO.   
  

7 Annual review of the work of the Committee - Agenda Item 7 
 
The Chair noted that he had completed a review of the work undertaken by the 
Committee and he had circulated his report to all Member of the Committee for 
comments and he thanked those co-opted Members that had provided feedback. 
The Chair reflected that the Committee had covered a great deal during a period of 
huge change as people were often completing multiple tasks and thanked everyone 
that had been involved with and supported the work of the Committee during that 
time. 
  

8 Membership of the Committee - Agenda Item 8 
 
The Chair noted that with the Council now taking on responsibility for overseeing 
Standards matters and possible complaints arising from the Town and Parish 
Councils in the County it might be that the work requirements on Members of the 
Committee would increase. He therefore thought it prudent for the Committee to 
consider its membership and if a member could take on the role of Vice Chair as 
this would help with ensuring Hearing Sub-Committees could meet. 
  
The Monitoring Officer noted that a recommendation would have to be made for the 
Committee to have a position of Vice Chair and a Councillor would also need to be 
appointed. Regarding the possible ‘backlog’ or carry over of existing complaints that 

Page 12



 

 

had yet to be determined he noted this was approx. 13. He further noted that 
Hearing Sub-Committees were quite unusual and would only occasionally be 
required at the end of the complaints process. He confirmed there was a vacancy for 
a co-opted Member to sit on the Committee and that person might be a Town or 
Parish Councillor and that recruitment process, conducted by the Monitoring Officer 
could typically take up to 3 months.     
  
It was confirmed that any complaint about a Council member would be judged 
against the respective Councils own Code of Conduct. Hearing Sub-Committees had 
to comprise 3 Members of the Standards Committee and an Independent Member, 
no substitute could be used. 
  
It was not thought that this limited number of people that could sit on Sub-
Committees would be problematic, based on the number of times the Sub-
Committees had been required over recent years. There was a suggestion that the 
P1 group might want to consider the membership of Hearing Sub-Committees and 
there was a brief discussion about the political composition and locations for such 
meetings.  
  
The Committee agreed, it having been proposed and seconded, to request that a 
position of Vice Chair be added to the terms of reference and that Cllr Smedley be 
nominated for the role of Vice Chair and those would be submitted to the next full 
Council meeting for approval. 
  

9 Action Plan - Agenda Item 9 
 
Agenda item 5 – to clarify officer support – David Clarke – ASAP 
  
Agenda item 6 - P1 Working Group to review documents 1-4 (issued by Monitoring 
Officer under agenda item 6), circulate to Cttee members and report back to Cttee 
on 28 June 2023 This to include possible use of co-opted members of the cttee to 
sit on Hearing Sub-Cttee – by P1 group – 14/06/23 
  
Agenda item 6 - P2 to meet to agree a way forward – P2 group – 14/06/23 
  
Agenda item 6 - P3 – MO to Respond to current P3 amendments and agree the way 
forward with P3 – MO/P3 – 14/06/23 
  
Agenda item 6 – Chair and MO to provide Cllr Nicholson with a background briefing 
  
Agenda Item 6 - The Monitoring Officer to confirm whether those amendments fell 
within the scope of the delegations that allowed him to make amendments to the 

Page 13



 

 

Code. 
  
Agenda item 8 – Full Council (24 May) requested to amend Constitution to include 
position of Vice Chair and Cllr Smedley to be nominated 
  
Agenda item 8 – Membership of Hearing Sub-Committee – P1 to review – 14/06/23 
  
Agenda item 8 – Co-opted Vacancy - Job Spec to be considered at future meeting – 
MO – 14/06/23 
 

(The meeting ended at 12.02 pm) 
 
 
 
 

…………………………… 
CHAIR 

Page 14



 

SOMERSET COUNCIL 

UNITARY COUNCILLORS WHO ARE ALSO TOWN AND/OR 
PARISH COUNCILLORS 

UNITARY 
COUNCILLOR TOWN AND/OR PARISH COUNCIL 

Steve Ashton Crewkerne Town Council / Hinton St George Parish 
Council 

Suria Aujla Bridgwater Town Council 
Jason Baker Chard Town Council 

Lee Baker Cheddon Fitzpaine Parish Council / Taunton Shadow 
Town Council 

Marcus Barr Wellington Town Council 
Mike Best Crewkerne Town Council 
Alan Bradford North Petherton Town Council 
Theo Butt Philip Wells City Council 
Simon Carswell Street Parish Council 

Norman Cavill West Monkton Parish Council / Taunton Shadow Town 
Council 

Peter Clayton Burnham Highbridge Town Council 
Simon Coles Taunton Shadow Town Council 

Nick Cottle Glastonbury Town Council / St Edmunds Parish 
Council 

Adam Dance South Petherton Parish Council 
Dixie Darch Taunton Shadow Town Council 
Tom Deakin Taunton Shadow Town Council 
Caroline Ellis Taunton Shadow Town Council 
Habib Farbahi Taunton Shadow Town Council 
Ben Ferguson Axbridge Town Council 
Bob Filmer Brent Knoll Parish Council 
David Fothergill Taunton Shadow Town Council 
Andrew Govier Wellington Town Council 
Pauline Ham Axbridge Town Council 
Philip Ham Coleford Parish Council 
Ross Henley Wellington Town Council 
Edric Hobbs Shepton Mallet Town Council 

John Hunt Bishop’s Hull Parish Council / Taunton Shadow Town 
Council 

Dawn Johnson Taunton Shadow Town Council 
Val Keitch Ilminster Town Council 
Andy Kendall Yeovil Town Council 
Jenny Kenton Chard Town Council 
Tim Kerley Somerton Town Council 
Marcus Kravis Minehead Town Council 

Page 15

Agenda Item 3



Tony Lock Yeovil Town Council 
Martin Lovell Shepton Mallet Town Council 
Mike Murphy Burnham Highbridge Town Council 
Graham Oakes Yeovil Town Council / Yeovil Without Parish Council 
Sue Osborne Ilminster Town Council 
Kathy Pearce Bridgwater Town Council 
Emily Pearlstone Ilchester Parish Council 
Derek Perry  Taunton Shadow Town Council 
Evie Potts-Jones Yeovil Town Council 
Hazel Prior-Sankey Taunton Shadow Town Council 
Wes Read Yeovil Town Council 
Leigh Redman Bridgwater Town Council 
Mike Rigby Bishop’s Lydeard and Cothelstone Parish Council 
Tony Robbins Wells City Council 
Dean Ruddle Somerton Town Council 

Peter Seib Brympton Parish Council / Chilthorne Domer Parish 
Council 

Heather Shearer Street Parish Council 
Gill Slocombe Bridgwater Town Council 
Brian Smedley Bridgwater Town Council 
Fran Smith Taunton Shadow Town Council 
Federica Smith-Roberts Taunton Shadow Town Council 
Jeny Snell Yeovil Town Council / Brympton Parish Council 
Andy Soughton Yeovil Town Council 
Richard Wilkins Curry Rivel Parish Council 
Dave Woan Yeovil Town Council 
Ros Wyke Westbury-sub-Mendip Parish Council 

 

Their memberships of Parish or Town Councils will be taken as being declared 
by these Councillors to be Personal Interests in the business of the Somerset 

Council meeting and need not be declared verbally.  

Any Unitary Councillor who has a Prejudicial Interest by virtue of their 
Membership of a Parish or Town Council, or who has a special involvement by 
virtue of being a Parish or Town Councillor, in a matter to be discussed by the 

Somerset Council will be expected to declare that prejudicial interest 
personally or bring to the attention of the Somerset Council meeting their 

special involvement. 

H CLARKE, Unitary Solicitor, April 2023 

Page 16



 1 of 3 

Somerset Council 
 
Standards Committee – 28 June 2023 
  
  

 
 

 
Report of Priority Group One – Code of Conduct Complaints Process & Media 
Plan 
Lead Officer: David Clark 
Report Author: David Clark 
Contact Details:  David.clark@somerset.gov.uk 01749 341539 
 

1. Summary  

1.1.  The Localism Act 2011 imposes a duty on local authorities to promote and 
maintain high standards of conduct by members and co-opted members of the 
authority, to adopt a code of conduct governing the behaviour of members of 
the local authority while in office, to make arrangements to investigate and 
make decisions on allegations that the code of conduct has been breached, 
and to appoint one or more independent persons (Independent Persons) 
whose views must be sought and taken into account when deciding on 
breaches of the code of conduct. 

1.2.  The Standards Committee and the Standards Hearing Panel are a fundamental 
element of the Council’s framework for managing standards of member 
conduct and allow the Council to maintain effective oversight of the 
arrangements put in place and their terms of reference form part of the 
Council’s constitution. 
 

1.3.  The Governance Workstream within the Local Government Reorganisation 
project produced 3 draft documents for consideration by the Standards 
Committee: 
 

i. Draft Investigations and Hearing Procedures 
ii. Somerset Council Guidance on making a Code of Conduct Complaint 

(incl process flow chart) 
iii. Draft Somerset Council Code of Conduct Complaints Media Protocol 

 

1.4.  The standards Committee Priority Group One have now concluded their review 
of the draft documents and their observations and officer response has been 
included by way of tracked changes as appendices to this report 

 

Page 17

Agenda Item 5

mailto:David.clark@somerset.gov.uk


 2 of 3 

2. Recommendations 

2.1.  That the Standards Committee: 
Agree to recommend to Full Council the adoption of: 
 

i. Investigations and Hearing Procedure 
ii. Somerset Council Guidance on making a Code of Conduct Complaint 

(incl process flow chart) 
iii. Somerset Council Code of Conduct Complaints Media Protocol 

 

 

3. Background 

3.1.  The Council has established a Standards Committee. The role of the standards 
committee is to supervise all of the council’s arrangements for maintaining and 
enforcing standards of Member conduct. 

3.2.  In the lead up to vesting day the Governance Workstream within the Local 
Government Reorganisation project produced 3 draft documents for 
consideration by the Standards Committee. These draft documents sought to 
improve the guidance and process regarding Code of Conduct Complaints, 
following the recently published guidance by the Local government Association 
and local best practice from the 5 legacy Councils.  

3.3.  Priority group One of the Committee have now concluded their review of these 
draft documents and their observations and Officer response is presented to 
the Committee for consideration with a proposal that the Committee now 
recommend their adoption to Full Council. 

3.4.  The Priority Group also considered options for the inclusion of co-opted 
members of the Committee on the Standards Hearing Sub-Committee which is 
subject to a separate report 

 

4. Options Considered and any consultation undertaken 

4.1.  The draft documents were produced in consultation with officers from the 
Governance workstream within the Local Government Reorganisation project 
and shared with Member of the Standards Committee. 

 

5. Legal, Equalities, Financial and Other Implications 

5.1.  The Council has a legal obligation to maintain high standards of conduct of its 
Members. The effective administration of the code of conduct for members will 

Page 18



 3 of 3 

also reduce the risk of reputational harm to the Council and promote good 
governance within the Council. 

5.2.  Following local government reorganisation in Somerset the Council now also 
administers the Code of Conduct complaints process for all City, Town and 
Parish Councils within their area. 

5.3.  Because the investigation and determination of complaints about breaches of 
the 
code of conduct is quasi-judicial in nature it is important for that processes 
adopted should be fair and transparent. 

 

6. Background papers 

6.1.  The Committee should refer to the following documents:  
• LGA Model Code of Conduct  
• LGA guidance on Code of Conduct Complaints Handling 

 

7. Appendices 

7.1.  Appendix 1 - Draft Investigations and Hearing Procedure (with tracked 
changes) 
 
Appendix 2 - Somerset Council Guidance on making a Code of Conduct 
Complaint (with tracked changes) 
 
Appendix 3 – Complaints against councillors process – drafted by officers 
 
Appendix 4 – Complaints against councillors process – drafted by the Priority 
Group 
 
Appendix 5 - Somerset Council Code of Conduct Complaints Media Protocol 
(with tracked changes) 

 
Note  For sight of individual background papers please contact the report author 
 
 
 

Page 19



This page is intentionally left blank



• 

• 

• 

Commented [SH1]: AH: Why is the The Clerk of the relevant 
town or parish council where the Subject Member is a town or 
parish councillor informed if the complaint relates to the Subject 
Member’s alleged breach of the Code of Conduct in relation to 
his/her actions as a Member of Somerset Council and not the town 
of parish council? 
 
SH response: The Town or Parish Council clerk is notified if the 
investigation relates to their capacity as a Town or Parish Member. 
The procedure states: 
 
‘Investigations 
Where a matter is referred for investigation, the following parties 
will be informed 
… 
• The Clerk of the relevant town or parish council where the Subject 
Member is a town or parish councillor’ 

Appendix 1

Page 21



• 

• 

• 

Commented [SH2]:  
FN: The Investigating Officer may also refer the matter back to the 
Monitoring Officer if at any time during the Investigation 
circumstances arise that they consider may make it appropriate not 
to continue with the investigation. These circumstances may include 
the following situations, although this list is not exhaustive and there 
may be other reasons why it is not appropriate to continue with the 
investigation:-                        

• Evidence is uncovered suggesting a case is more or less 
serious than seemed apparent originally 

 
My highlighting.  Why would an investigation not be continued if 
evidence is uncovered suggesting the case is more serious?  (I can 
see it might be deferred but this is covered in the next section.) 
 
SH response: The complaint may disclose evidence of failure to 
disclose a DPI which is a criminal offence and in such circumstances 
the investigation would have to be stopped and the matter referred 
to the Police. 
 

Appendix 1

Page 22



• 

• 

• 

Commented [SH3]: AH: Last paragraph’s statement about any 
referral being subject to the agreement of the Monitoring Officer or 
the Standards Committee.   If the agreement has to be by the 
Standards Committee does this mean a formal meeting of the 
Committee?    Could that be a decision of the Chair and/or Vice-
Chair? 
 
SH response: Committee currently 

Commented [SH4]:  
FN: Deferring an investigation.  Last para.  ‘Monitoring Offer or the 
Standards Committee’.  As written this means that either one or 
other could agree the deferral even if the other doesn’t agree.  Is 
that what is intended?  If not, then what is the intended meaning? 
And if both have to agree but there is a difference of view, what 
happens then? 
 
SH response: gives the MO the option to refer the decision to the 
Committee depending on the circumstances The reality is that 
where referred to the Committee for decision, the MO will not 
override that   

Commented [SH5]: AH: First paragraph, second sentence.   This 
might read better as follows “All people (or persons) interviewed as 
part of the investigation will be expected to maintain 
confidentiality.”   As it currently reads, the Investigating Officer will 
ask for confidentiality – it should be an expectation! 
 
SH Response: Persons interviewed will not likely have read the 
procedure so won’t know its confidential unless the IO tells actually 
tells them 

Appendix 1

Page 23



• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

Commented [SH6]: AH: Last paragraph – as with the comment 
of P13 why is the Town/Parish Clerk advised of the outcome if the 
complaint is not about the Subject Member’s conduct within that 
council? 

Appendix 1

Page 24



• 

• 

• 

Commented [SH7]:  
FN:  The words ‘and if so, what the sanction should be’  should be 
added before the full stop. 
 
SH response: amend as suggested 

Appendix 1

Page 25



• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

Commented [SH8]: AH:  First main paragraph and first 
paragraph under “Key Points for the pre-hearing process” suddenly 
refer to a “Chairman”.   Somerset Council uses the title “Chair”. 
 
SH response: Amend as suggested 

Commented [SH9]: AH:  First bullet point refers to the Subject 
Member being able to be represented by “….any other person”.   On 
P20 that is qualified by the words “must obtain the consent of the 
Committee.”   If the attendance of a representative other than a 
legal representative is subject to the consent of the Committee, this 
should be spelt out in both places. 
 
SH response: The bullet point does not refer to the Member being 
able to be represented by any other person. It simply sets out that 
one of the purposes of the pre-hearing procedure is to find out 
whether they wish to be represented by a solicitor, barrister or any 
other  person 

Commented [SH10]:  
FN: bullet point  add the words in quotation marks 
• wants to be represented ‘at their own expense’ at the hearing by a 
solicitor, barrister or any other person 
 
SH response: amend as suggested 

Appendix 1

Page 26



• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

Appendix 1

Page 27



Commented [SH11]:  
AH: “Chairman” should read “Chair”. 
 
SH response: Amend as suggested 
 
AH: On page 27 there is a comment about the expenses of 
representation.   That should be moved to this page. 
 
SH response: Amend as suggested. 

Commented [SH12]:  
FN: and wherever else this point comes up  the words ‘which shall 
not be unreasonably withheld’  should be added to ‘ is subject to the 
consent of the Committee’ 
 
SH response: amend as suggested 

Commented [SH13]:  
AH: Third line “The Committee” should read “the Committee”. 
 
SH response: Amend as suggested 

Commented [SH14]:  
AH: Last mine “Chairman” should read “Chair” 
 
SH response: Amend as suggested 

Appendix 1

Page 28



• 

• 

• 

Commented [SH15]:  
FN: suggest ‘usually’ or ‘frequently’ would be better than ‘regularly’ 
 
SH response: Committee to decide wording 

Appendix 1

Page 29



• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

Commented [SH16]:  
AH: Second, third and fifth bullet points – parish (or Parish) council 
should read “town or parish council”. 
 
SH response: Amend as suggested 
 
Fourth, seventh and ninth bullet points – “member” should read 
“Subject Member” 
 
SH response: Amend as suggested 
 
 

Commented [SH17]:  
FN: The bullet points should all follow the same grammatical form.  
Suggest using the imperative form of the verb as in bullet points 1, 2, 
3, and 10 and 11. The other bullet points use the present participle 
which doesn’t feel so comfortable. 
 
SH response; amend as suggested 

Appendix 1

Page 30



• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

Commented [SH18]:  
AH: Penultimate bullet point – the word “mediation” appears for the 
first time in this document without explanation of what might be 
involved.   Suggest its removal! 
 
SH response: Mediation is a potential ‘sanction’ but would suggest 
that we delete so that it now reads ‘How will the sanction be carried 
out? For example, who will provide the training or mediation?’ 

Appendix 1

Page 31



• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

Commented [SH19]:  
AH: Second, third and fourth bullet points refer to “member” but 
should refer to “Subject Member”. 
 
SH response: Amend as suggested 
 
 

Appendix 1

Page 32



• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

Commented [SH20]:  
AH: First bullet point at top of page and first bullet point in next 
section “member” but should refer to “Subject Member”. 
 
SH response: Amend as suggested 
 
 
 

Formatted: Strikethrough

Appendix 1

Page 33



• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

Commented [SH21]:  
AH: Last paragraph – why are the committee’s reports and minutes 
only “available for inspection for six years”?   I would expect all 
minutes of all committee to be available for inspection from the 
start of Somerset County Council albeit one might have to go to the 
Somerset Records Office. 
 
SH response: Statutory requirement to make them available at the 
council offices for 6 years. 
 
S100(c) Local Government Act 1972 requires: 
 
‘After a meeting of a principal council in England the following 
documents shall be open to inspection by members of the public at 
the offices of the council until the expiration of the period of six 
years beginning with the date of the meeting, namely— 
(a) the minutes, or a copy of the minutes, of the meeting…’ 
 
Thereafter the minutes will be transferred to the Records Office. 
 
Have added ‘at the office of Somerset Council’ 

Formatted: Strikethrough

Commented [SH22]:  
FN: This section doesn’t feel to be in the right order. Suggest  
 
The Committee will arrange for a summary of the decision and 
reasons for it to be prepared. 
 
If the Committee finds that the Subject Member did not fail to 
follow the authority’s Code of Conduct, the public summary must 
say this and give reasons for this finding. 
 
If the Committee finds that the Subject Member failed to follow the 
Code but no action needs to be taken the summary must: 
• say that the member failed to follow the Code, but that no action 
needs to be taken  
• outline what happened  
• give reasons for the Committee’s decision not to take any action 
 
If the Committee finds that the member failed to follow the Code 
and it imposes a sanction, the public summary must:  
• say that the member failed to follow the Code  
• outline what happened  
• explain what sanction has been imposed  
• give reasons for the decision made by Committee  
 
If the Committee finds that the Subject Member did not fail to 
follow the authority’s Code of Conduct, the Subject Member is 
entitled to decide that no summary of the decision should be 
published. 
 
If the Committee finds that the Subject Member failed to follow the 
authority’s Code of Conduct, or where the Subject Member who did 
not fail to follow it but has not decided that no summary should be 
published, The Committee will arrange for the summary to be 
published on the Council’s website and a press release issued. The 
summary may also be published in any other publication if the 
Committee considers it appropriate. 
 
The committee’s reports and minutes should be available for public 
inspection for six years after the hearing. However, sections of 
documents relating to parts of the hearing that were held in private 
will not have to be made available for public inspection. 
 
SH response: amend as suggested 
 

Formatted: Strikethrough

Appendix 1

Page 34



• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

Appendix 1

Page 35



• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

Commented [SH23]:  
AH: Third bullet point in page 27 why is it “reason’s”?   Should be 
“reasons”. 
 
SH response: Typo. Amend as suggested 
 
 

Commented [SH24]:  
AH:  Last sentence relating to cost of representation needs to be 
moved to page 20. 
 
SH: Amend as suggested – moved to p20 

Commented [SH25]:  
AH: Second paragraph.   Whilst the Monitoring Officer is the legal 
adviser to the Standards Committee, within the context of this 
document and this paragraph I believe he is adviser to the Hearings 
Sub-Committee.   Interestingly on page 81 of the report, hearings 
are heard by the Standards Hearing Sub-Committee.   Which is it 
please? 
 
SH response: The MO is advisor to both the Standards Committee 
and the Hearings Sub-Committee.  
 
Hearings are held by the Standards Hearing Sub-Committee.    
 
 

Appendix 1

Page 36



  

Appendix 1

Page 37



 
 
 

APPENDIX A 
 

TEMPLATE INVESTIGATION REPORT 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Case Reference:  

 

Report of an investigation by [insert Investigating Officer name] appointed by the 
Monitoring Officer for [insert authority name] into an allegation concerning [insert 
subject member name]. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

DATE:  [insert date] 

Appendix 1

Page 38



Contents 

 

1 Executive summary 

2 [Insert member’s name]’s official details 

3 The relevant legislation and protocols 

4 The evidence gathered 

5 Summary of the material facts 

6 [Insert member’s name]’s additional submissions 

7 Reasoning as to whether there have been failures to comply with the 

Code of Conduct 

8 Finding 

 

Appendix A Schedule of evidence taken into account and list of unused 

material 

 

Appendix B  Chronology of events 

 

  

Appendix 1

Page 39



1 Executive summary 
 

1.1 [Insert summary of allegation] 
 

1.2 [Insert summary of Investigation outcome]  
 

2 [Insert member’s name]’s official details 
 

2.1 [Insert member’s name] was elected to office on [insert date] for a term of 
[insert number] years. [nsert member’s name is also a member of the following 
other relevant authorities: insert authority names]. 

 

2.2 [Insert member’s name] currently serves on the following committees: [insert 
committee names] and has also served on [insert committee names] 
committees in recent years. 

 

2.3 [If no longer a member, state how the period of office ceased] 
 

2.4 [Insert member’s name] gave a written undertaking to observe the Code of 
Conduct on [insert date]. 

 

2.5 [Insert member’s name] has received the following training on the Code of 
Conduct [insert training details]. 

 

3 The relevant legislation and protocols 
 

3.1 The council has adopted a Code of Conduct in which the following 
paragraph[s] is/are included: 

 

▪ [insert included paragraph] 
▪ [insert included paragraph] 
▪ [insert included paragraph] 
▪ [insert included paragraph] 

 

4 The evidence gathered  
 

4.1 I have taken account of oral evidence from [insert evidence details]  
 

Appendix 1

Page 40



4.2 I have also taken account of documentary evidence obtained from [insert 
evidence details] 

 

5 Summary of the material facts 
 

5.1 [Insert summary] 
 

6 [Insert member’s name]’s additional submissions 
 

6.1 [Insert submissions] 
 

 

7 Reasoning as to whether there have been failures to comply with the 
Code of Conduct 

 

7.1 [Insert reasoning] 
 

 

8 Finding 
 

8.1 [Insert finding] 
  

Appendix 1

Page 41



Appendix A 
  
 

Schedule of evidence taken into account 
 

 
Core documents 

Doc No Description Pages 

XX123 Complaint  1- 

   

   

   

   

 

Notes of telephone conversations, letters, and interviews with witnesses 

Doc No Description Pages 

   

   

   

   

   

 
Minutes of meetings and other documentary evidence 

Doc No Description Pages 

   

   

   

   

   

Appendix 1

Page 42



 
Comments on draft report 

Doc No Description Pages 

   

   

   

   

   

 

Appendix 1

Page 43



List of unused materials 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

 

 

 

  

Appendix 1

Page 44



 
Appendix B 
 
Chronology of events 

 

▪ [insert event] 
▪ [insert event] 
▪ [insert event] 
▪ [insert event] 
▪ [insert event] 

 
 

 

 

 
 

  

Appendix 1

Page 45



APPENDIX B 
 

 

FORM A 
 

 

Subject Member’s response to the evidence set out in the 
investigation report  
 

Please enter the number of any paragraph in the investigation report where you disagree with the 

findings of fact, and give your reasons and your suggested alternative.  

 

Paragraph number 

from the investigation 

report 

Reasons for disagreeing with the 

findings of fact provided in that 

paragraph 

Suggestion as to how the paragraph should read 

   

   

   

 

 

  

Appendix 1

Page 46



FORM B 
 

 

Other evidence relevant to the complaint  
 

Please set out below, using the numbered paragraphs, any evidence you feel is relevant to the 

complaint made about you.  

 

Paragraph 

number 
Details of the evidence 

1 
 

2 

 

3 

 

 

 

  

Appendix 1

Page 47



 
 

FORM C 
 

 

Representations to be taken into account if a Subject 
Member is found to have failed to follow the Code of 
Conduct and referred for hearing by the Monitoring Officer 
 

Please set out below, using the numbered paragraphs, any factors that the Committee should take 

into account if it finds that you have failed to follow the Code of Conduct. Please note that no such 

finding has yet been made.   

 

Paragraph 

number 
Factors for the Committee to take into account when deciding whether to impose a sanction  

1 
 

2 

 

3 

 

 

 

  

Appendix 1

Page 48



FORM D 
 

 

Arrangements for the Committee hearing  
 

Please tick the relevant boxes.   

 

1 
Are you planning to 

attend the Committee 

hearing on the 

proposed date in the 

accompanying letter? 

 

If ‘No’, please explain 

why. 

Yes 

 

 

No 

 

 

Reason: 

      

2 
Are you going to 

present your own 

case? 

Yes 

 

 

No 

 

 

 

3 
If you are not 

presenting your own 

case, will a 

representative 

present it for you?  

 

If ‘Yes’, please state 

the name of your 

representative. 

Yes 

 

 

No 

 

 

Name: 

      

Appendix 1

Page 49



4 
Is your representative 

a practising solicitor 

or barrister?  

 

If ‘Yes’, please give 

their legal 

qualifications. Then go 

to Question 6.  

 

If ‘No’ please go to  

Question 5. 

Yes 

 

 

No 

 

 

Qualifications: 

      

5 
Does your 

representative have 

any connection with 

your case?  

 

If ‘Yes’, please give 

details. 

Yes 

 

 

No 

 

 

Details: 

      

6 
Are you going to call 

any witnesses? 

 

If ‘Yes’, please fill in 

Form E. 

Yes 

 

 

No 

 

 

 

Appendix 1

Page 50



7 
Do you, your 

representative or your 

witnesses have any 

access difficulties? For 

example, is 

wheelchair access 

needed? 

 

If ‘Yes’, please give 

details.   

Yes 

 

 

No 

 

 

Details: 

      

8 
Do you, your 

representative or 

witnesses have any 

special needs?  

 

For example, is an 

interpreter needed? 

 

If ‘Yes’ please give 

details 

Yes 

 

 

No 

 

 

Details: 

      

9 
Do you want any part 

of the hearing to be 

held in private?  

 

If ‘Yes’, please give 

reasons. 

Yes 

 

 

No 

 

 

Reasons: 

      

Appendix 1

Page 51



10 
Do you want any part 

of the relevant 

documents to be 

withheld from public 

inspection?  

If so, please explain 

which 

documents/parts of 

documents and give 

reasons for 

withholding from 

public inspection. 

 

If ‘Yes’, please give 

reasons. 

Yes 

 

 

No 

 

 

Reasons: 

      

 

 

  

Appendix 1

Page 52



 

FORM E 
 

 

Details of proposed witnesses to be called  
 

Name of witness or witnesses 1 

 

2 

 

3 

      

 

      

 

      

Witness 1 

a 
Will the witness give 

evidence about the 

allegation? 

 

If ‘Yes’, please provide 

an outline of the 

evidence the witness 

will give. 

Yes 

 

 

No 

 

 

Outline of evidence: 

      

Appendix 1

Page 53



b 
Will the witness give 

evidence about what 

action the Committee 

should take if it finds 

that the Code of 

Conduct has not been 

followed?  

 

If ‘Yes’, please provide 

an outline of the 

evidence the witness 

will give. 

Yes 

 

 

No 

 

 

Outline of evidence: 

      

  

Appendix 1

Page 54



Witness 2 

a 
Will the witness give 

evidence about the 

allegation? 

 

If ‘Yes’, please provide 

an outline of the 

evidence the witness 

will give. 

Yes 

 

 

No 

 

 

Outline of evidence: 

      

b 
Will the witness give 

evidence about what 

action the Committee 

should take if it finds 

that the Code of 

Conduct has not been 

followed?  

 

If ‘Yes’, please provide 

an outline of the 

evidence the witness 

will give. 

Yes 

 

 

No 

 

 

Outline of evidence: 

      

  

Appendix 1

Page 55



Witness 3 

a 
Will the witness give 

evidence about the 

allegation? 

 

If ‘Yes’, please provide 

an outline of the 

evidence the witness 

will give. 

Yes 

 

 

No 

 

 

Outline of evidence: 

      

b 
Will the witness give 

evidence about what 

action the Committee 

should take if it finds 

that the Code of 

Conduct has not been 

followed?  

 

If ‘Yes’, please provide 

an outline of the 

evidence the witness 

will give. 

Yes 

 

 

No 

 

 

Outline of evidence: 

      

 

  

Appendix 1

Page 56



 

FORM F 
 

 

Checklist for the pre-hearing process summary  
 

After the Committee has received responses from the Subject Member and the Monitoring Officer, it 

should prepare a summary of the main aspects of the case that will be heard. 

 

The pre-hearing process summary should include: 

 

 the name of the authority 

 the name of the subject member  

 the name of the complainant (unless there are good reasons to keep their identity 

confidential) 

 case reference number  

 the name of the Committee Member who will chair the hearing 

 the name of the Monitoring Officer 

 the name of the clerk of the hearing or other administrative officer 

 The name of the Independent Person 

 the date the pre-hearing process summary was produced 

 the date, time and place of the hearing 

 a summary of the complaint 

Appendix 1

Page 57



 the relevant section or sections of the Code of Conduct 

 the findings of fact in the investigation report that are agreed 

 the findings of fact in the investigation report that are not agreed 

 whether the Subject Member or the Investigating Officer will attend or be 

represented 

 the names of any witnesses who will be asked to give evidence 

 an outline of the proposed procedure for the hearing   

 

  

Appendix 1

Page 58



APPENDIX C 
 

MODEL HEARING PROCEDURE FOR THE COMMITTEE 
 
Interpretation 
 
1. ‘Subject Member’ means the member of the authority who is the subject of the 
allegation being considered by the Committee or their nominated representative, 
unless stated otherwise. It also includes the Subject Member’s nominated 
representative. 
 
2. ‘Investigating Officer’ means the Monitoring Officer or other Investigating Officer and 
his or her nominated representative. 
 
3. ‘Committee’ refers to the Standards Hearing Sub-Committee, a Sub-Committee of 
the Standards Committee. 
 
4. ‘Legal advisor’ means the officer responsible for providing legal advice to the 
Committee. This may be the Monitoring Officer, another legally qualified officer of the 
authority, or someone appointed for this purpose from outside the authority. 
 
5. “Independent Person” means the individual appointed by the Council under the 
Localism Act 2011 whose view will be sought and taken into account by the Committee 
before it makes a decision on the allegation. 
 
Representation 
6. The Subject Member may be represented or accompanied during the meeting by a 
solicitor, counsel or, with the permission of the Committee (which shall not be 
unreasonably withheld), another person. 
 
Legal Advice 
7. The Committee may take legal advice from its legal advisor at any time during the 
hearing or while they are considering the outcome. The substance of any legal 
advice given to the Committee should be shared with the Subject Member and the 
Investigating Officer if they are present. 
 
Setting the scene 
8. After all the members and everyone involved have been formally introduced, the 
Chairman should explain how the Committee is going to run the hearing. 
 
Preliminary procedural issues 
9. The Committee should then resolve any issues or disagreements about how the 
hearing should continue, which have not been resolved during the pre-hearing 
process. 
 
Making findings of fact 
10. After dealing with any preliminary issues, the Committee should then move on to 
consider whether or not there are any significant disputes agreements about the facts 
contained in the Iinvestigating Officeor’s report. 

Commented [SH26]:  
AH: 1. How can “Subject Member” also include the Subject 
Member’s nominated representative?   If it needs to mean that then 
the words “or his/her nominated representative” needs to come 
after the word “Committee” in the second line. 
 
SH response: Where a Subject Member has a nominated 
representative, for example a solicitor, then correspondence etc will 
be with the solicitor rather than the Subject Member and it will be 
the representative that makes representations etc at the hearing. 
 
Amend as suggested. 
 
 
 

Commented [SH27]:  
AH: “Investigating Officer” – on page 13 of the report, the 
Monitoring Officer will appoint an external Investigating Officer.   
This definition is, therefore, incorrect. 
 
SH response: The MO may investigate a complaint themselves so 
could be the Investigating Officer.   

Commented [SH28]:  
AH: Hearing Committee” should read “Standards Hearing Sub-
Committee” – see page 81 of the report 
 
SH response: Amend as suggested 

Commented [SH29]:  
AH:  “with the permission of the Committee” – this can only stand if 
the changes to pages 18 and/or 20 are accepted. 
 
SH response: See above under 18: The bullet point at 18 does not 
refer to the Member being able to be represented by any other 
person. It simply sets out that one of the purposes of the pre-
hearing procedure is to find out whether they wish to be 
represented by a solicitor, barrister or any other person.  
 
If they indicate in Form D that they wish to be represented by ‘any 
other person’ then permission to do so would be considered as part 
of the pre-hearing procedure based on the further information 
about that person given in Form D. 
 
Change to Sub-Committee? 
 
 
 
 

Commented [SH30]:  
FN: add ‘which shall not be unreasonably withheld’ 
 
SH response: amend as suggested 

Commented [SH31]:  
FN: PP and  51 I have a real problem with ‘disagreeing’ with facts.  
You can’t.  What you can do is dispute them (pp 18 and 21).  You can 
have disagreements about them (p50) and you can disagree with a 
finding of fact (p37). ‘Dispute’ is the shortest form – a single word 
which is good – so I think it should be used instead of ‘disagree’ 
throughout this section.  I feel strongly that not to make this change 
would be real piece of ‘persuasive definition’ and would be likely to 
lead to bias.   
 
SH response: amend ‘disagreements’ to ‘disputes’ as suggested 

Commented [SH32]:  
AH: “Investigator’s report” should read “Investigating Officer’s 
report” 
 
SH response: Amend as suggested 

Appendix 1

Page 59



 
11. If there is no disagreement dispute about the facts, the Committee can move on 
to the 
next stage of the hearing. 
 
12. If there is a disputeagreement, the Investigating Officer, if present, should be 
invited to make any necessary representations to support the relevant findings of fact 
in the 
report. With the Committee’s permission, the Investigating Officer may call any 
necessary supporting witnesses to give evidence. The Committee may give the 
Subject Member an opportunity to challenge any evidence put forward by any witness 
called by the Investigating Officer.  
 
13. The Subject Member should then have the opportunity to make representations to 
support his or her version of the facts and, with the Committee’s permission, to call 
any necessary witnesses to give evidence. 
 
14. At any time, the Committee may question any of the people involved or any of the 
witnesses, and may allow the Investigating Officer to challenge any evidence put 
forward by witnesses called by the Subject Member.  
 
15. If the Subject Member disputesagrees with most of the  facts, it may make sense 
for the Investigating Officer to start by making representations on all the relevant  facts, 
instead of discussing each fact individually. 
 
16. If the Subject Member disputesagrees with any relevant fact in the Investigating 
Officer’s report, without having given prior notice of the disputeagreement, he or she 
must give good reasons for not mentioning it before the hearing. If the Investigating 
Officer is not present the Committee will consider whether or not it would be in the 
public interest to continue in his or her absence. After considering the Subject 
Member’s explanation for not raising the issue at an earlier stage, the Committee may 
then:- 
(a) continue with the hearing, relying on the information in the Investigating Officer’s 
report; 
(b) allow the Subject Member to make representations about the issue, and invite the 
Investigating Officer to respond and call any witnesses, as necessary; or 
(c) postpone the hearing to arrange for appropriate witnesses to be present, or for the 
Investigating Officer to be present if he or she is not already. 
 
17. Cross-examination will not be permitted at the hearing and any questions 
will be at the discretion of and through the Chairman of the Committee. 
 
 
18. The Committee will usually move to another room to consider the representations 
and evidence in private. 
 
19. On their return, the Chairman will announce the Committee’s findings of fact. 
 
Did the Subject Member fail to follow the Code? 
20. The Committee then needs to consider whether or not, based on the facts it has 

Commented [SH33]:  
AH: Paragraphs 17, 19, 27 and 32 – “Chairman” to read “Chair” 
 
SH response: Amend as suggested 
 
 
 

Commented [SH34]:  
AH: paragraph 18 and P31 paragraph 31 – since all the hearing is to 
be in public, why do these two parts of the “hearing” have to be “in 
private”.   I accept that in a jury trial, the jury would consider its 
verdict in private but could such a “private session” be construed as 
being unfair? 
 
SH response: There is certainly nothing unfair about the Sub-
Committee making its decision in private (a very detailed Decision 
Notice explaining the decision is published) in the same way that all 
Judges, Magistrates, Tribunals etc as well as council Licensing Panels, 
council disciplinary panels etc do so, and indeed not to do so would 
prejudice the Sub-Committee. The Sub-Committee require the 
ability to discuss matters freely and frankly in private and for the 
legal advisor to be able to provide robust privileged legal advice to 
the Sub-Committee in private.  
The LGA Guidance states: 
‘Once the panel has heard all the relevant evidence it should 
suspend the hearing and retire in private to consider its finding.’ 

Appendix 1

Page 60



found, the Subject Member has failed to follow the Code of Conduct. 
 
21. The Subject Member should be invited to give relevant reasons why the Committee 
should not decide, based on the findings of fact, that he or she has failed to follow the 
Code. 
 
22. The Committee should then consider any verbal or written representations from 
the Investigating Officer. 
 
23. The Committee should then consider any verbal or written representations from 
the Independent Person. 
 
24. The Committee may, at any time, question anyone involved on any point they 
raised in their representations. 
 
25. The Subject Member should be invited to make any final relevant points. 
 
26. The Committee will then move to another room to consider the representations. 
 
27. On their return, the Chairman will announce the Committee’s decision as to 
whether or not the Subject Member has failed to follow the Code of Conduct. 
 
If the Subject Member has not failed to follow the Code of Conduct 
28. If the Committee decides that the Subject Member has not failed to follow the Code 
of Conduct, the Committee can move on to consider whether it should make any 
recommendations to the authority. 
 
If the Subject Member has failed to follow the Code 
29. If the Committee decides that the Subject Member has failed to follow the Code of 
Conduct, it will consider any verbal or written representations from the Investigating 
Officer, the Independent Person and the Subject Member as to: 
 
(a) Whether or not the Committee should set a penalty; and 
(b) What form any penalty should take 
 
30. The Committee may question the Investigating Officer, Independent Person and 
Subject Member, and take legal advice, to make sure they have the information they 
need in order to make an informed decision. 
 
31. The Committee will then move to another room to consider whether or not to 
impose a penalty on the Subject Member and, if so, what the penalty should be. 
 
32. On their return, the Chairman will announce the Committee’s decision. 
 
Recommendations to the authority 
33. After considering any verbal or written representations from the Investigating 
Officer, the Committee will consider whether or not it should make any 
recommendations to the authority, with a view to promoting high standards of conduct 
among members. 
 

Appendix 1

Page 61



The written decision 
34. The Committee will announce its decision on the day and provide a short written 
decision on that day. It will also issue a full written decision within two weeks of 
the hearing. It is good practice to prepare the full written decision in draft on the day 
of the hearing before people’s memories fade. Commented [SH35]:  

AH: paragraph 34 – page 25 of the report states that the full written 
decision will be issued within two weeks of the hearing wherever 
possible.   These words need to be added here. 
 
SH response: The LGA Guidance is that the panel should give its full 
written decision to the relevant parties ‘as soon as possible after the 
hearing. In most cases this should be within one week of the 
hearing.’  
 
 
 
 

Appendix 1

Page 62



 
 

 

 

   
 

 
 
 

 
How to make a 

  

Complaint 
 

about the behaviour of a 
local authority councillor in 

Somerset 
 

Version 0.1 

Author Tom Woodhams 

Date 08 March 2023 

 
  

Appendix 2

Page 63



 
 

CONTENTS 
 
 

Section Title Page 

1 Introduction 1 

2 Making a complaint 2 

3 How should I set out my complaint? 2 

4 I am the complainant but I don’t want my identity revealed 3 

5 What you should do if you wish to submit a written complaint 4 

6 Timescales for dealing with complaints 4 

7 Is this a complaint that can be dealt with? 4 

8 First stage 5 

9 Second stage 6 

10 Behaviour that constitutes a criminal offence 7 

11 Multiple complaints about a councillor 8 

12 Complaints about a matter that has been assessed 8 

13 Anonymous complaints 8 

14 What happens once you submit your complaint 8 

15 Informal resolution 10 

16 Referral for investigation 11 

Appendix A Behaviour covered by the Code of Conduct 14 

Appendix B Sanctions available to Standards Committees 16 

Appendix C Timescales 18 

Appendix D Process flowchart 19 

 
 
 

 

Appendix 2

Page 64



1 

CODE OF CONDUCT FOR COUNCILLORS: 
INFORMATION AND GUIDANCE FOR POTENTIAL COMPLAINANTS 

1. Introduction

1.1 Somerset Council (“the Council”) has legal obligations to: 

1.1.1 promote and maintain high standards of conduct by its 
memberscouncillors  and co-opted members; and 

1.1.2  make arrangements to investigate and decide on allegations that its 
memberscouncillors and co-opted members have breached the 
Council’s Code of Conduct. 

1.2 The Council’s Code of Conduct for councillors is available using the following 
link: 

[INSERT HYPERLINK] 

1.3 The responsibility for considering written complaints against elected or co-
opted councillors ore co-opted members of the Council sits with the Council’s 
Standards Committee. This committee is a group of councillors appointed by 
the Council to help maintain and promote high ethical standards. In addition to 
councillors from the Council, parish council and community representatives are 
co-opted onto the committee. The Council also appoints independent persons 
to advise the committee. 

1.4 The Monitoring Officer, a senior officer of the Council, administers the process 
in respect of all complaints of alleged councillor misconduct on behalf of the 
Standards Committee and reports on breaches of the Council’s Code of 
Conduct to the Standards Committee. 

1.5 The Council is also responsible for investigating complaints that city, town or 
parish councillors in Somerset have breached their particular council’s code of 
conduct. Where a complaint is about the conduct of a member of a city, town 
or parish council the allegations will be assessed against the relevant council’s 
code of conduct. 

1.6 This guidance sets out: 

1.6.1 how you may make a complaint that a councillor of Somerset Council or 
of a city, town or parish council in Somerset has failed to comply with 
their council’s code of conduct; and 

1.6.2 how the Council will deal with any complaints about the conduct of a 
councillor of Somerset Council or of a city, town or parish council in 
Somerset. 

Commented [SH1]:  
AH: The word “members” should read “councillors” since these are 
the only two references to “councillors – everywhere else it is 
“members”. 

SH response: amend as requested 

Commented [SH2]:  
AH: I don’t believe there are any “co-opted councillors” on Somerset 
Council.   As far as I am aware such persons are always referred to as 
“co-opted members”. 

SH response: amend as requested 

Commented [SH3]:  
AH: there is reference to “city” councils.   This is the first of these 
documents to refer to city councils.   Since there is a Wells City 
Council, all other documents need to refer to City, Town or Parish 
Councils. 

SH response: amend as requested 

Appendix 2

Page 65



2 
 

1.7 A visual representation of the process for dealing with complaints as set out in 
this guidance is attached at Appendix D. 

 
1.8 The Monitoring Officer will publish details of complaints received in accordance 

with the Monitoring Officer’s media protocol. 
 

2. Making a complaint 
 
2.1  If you wish to make a complaint, please write to the Monitoring Officer at 

the address set out at paragraph 5 below.  
 
2.2  In order to ensure that we have all of the information which we need to be able 

to process your complaint, we would recommend that you use our standard 
complaint form. This is available on request or can be downloaded at the 
following link: 

 
https://www.somerset.gov.uk/our-information/complain-about-a-county-
councillor/ 

 
https://www.somerset.gov.uk/council-and-democracy/complaints-about-
councillors/ 

 
2.3  Your complaint must be made in writing.  If a disability prevents you from 

making your complaint in writing we will offer to put your complaint into writing 
and you will be asked to sign or otherwise indicate that you want to make a 
complaint in the terms set out. It will be your responsibility to provide any 
supporting documentation.  If you are unwilling to sign the documentation or 
indicate your satisfaction, your complaint will be rejected unless the Monitoring 
Officer is satisfied that the circumstances justify an exception being made. We 
can also help if English is not your first language.  

 
2.4  You are encouraged to read all of this guidance before submitting your 

complaint. We will acknowledge receipt of your complaint within three working 
days.  
 

3. How should I set out my complaint? 
 
3.1  It is very important that you set your complaint out fully and clearly, and provide 

all the information at the outset. You should also provide any documents or 
other material that you wish to be considered.  If a complaint does not contain 
sufficient information then it may be rejected.  

 
3.2  We recommend that you use our complaint form or provide a covering note 

summarising what you are complaining about, especially if your complaint 
includes a lot of supporting documentation.  In the summary you should tell us 
exactly what each person you are complaining about said or did that has 
caused you to complain.  If you are sending supporting documentation please 
cross-reference it against the summary of your complaint.  

 

Commented [SH4]:  
AH: the https link needs to be amended to remove the word 
“county”!   This is the link from the current website: Complaints 
about Councillors (somerset.gov.uk) 
 
SH response: Amend as requested  

Formatted: Indent: Left:  1.25 cm

Appendix 2

Page 66

https://www.somerset.gov.uk/council-and-democracy/complaints-about-
https://www.somerset.gov.uk/council-and-democracy/complaints-about-


3 
 

3.3  You should be as detailed as possible and substantiate your complaint where 
you can.  Although you are not required to prove your complaint at this stage of 
proceedings, you do have to demonstrate that you have reasonable grounds 
for believing that the councillor(s) complained about has breached the Code of 
Conduct.  

 
3.4  You may wish to take consider taking advice, for example from the Citizen’s 

Advice Bureau.  
 

4. I am the complainant but I don’t want my identity revealed 
 
4.1  If you ask for your identity to be withheld, this request will be considered by the 

Monitoring Officer at the First Stage of the process. 
 
4.2  As a matter of fairness and natural justice, the councillor you complained about 

should usually be told who has complained about them and receive details of 
the complaint.  However, in very exceptional circumstances the Monitoring 
Officer may withhold your identity either on request from you, or otherwise 
where they are satisfied that it is in the interests of all parties to do so, having 
regard to the factors set out in paragraph 4.3 below.  

 
4.3  The factors that the Monitoring Officer will take into account are:  
 

4.3.1 whether you have reasonable grounds for believing that you or 
somebody closely connected to you, will be at risk of physical harm if 
your or their identity is disclosed; 

  
4.3.2 whether you are reasonably concerned about the consequences to your 

employment or that of somebody closely connected to you, if your or 
their identity is disclosed; 

 
4.3.3 whether you or someone closely connected to you suffers from a medical 

condition and there is evidence of medical risks associated with your or 
their identity being disclosed or confirmation from an appropriate medical 
professional that this is the case; 

 
4.3.4 whether the specifics of the complaint will disclose who has made the 

complaint even without confirming your identity; and 
 
4.3.5 whether in spite of any other factor, the public interest in proceeding with 

the complaint outweighs the complainant’s interest in having their 
identity withheld. 

 
4.4  If the Monitoring Officer decides to refuse your request for confidentiality, they 

will offer you the option to withdraw the complaint, rather than proceed with your 
identity being disclosed.  The Monitoring Officer will balance whether the public 
interest in taking action on a complaint will outweigh your wish to have your 
identity withheld. 

 

Commented [SH5]:  
AH: I think you will find that CAB is now simply known as Citizens 
Advice (no apostrophe or “Bureau”) 
 
SH response: amend as suggested 

Appendix 2

Page 67



4 
 

5. What you should do if you wish to submit a written complaint 
 
 Get a copy of the code of conduct for the relevant council to see whether the 

behaviour you wish to complain about is covered by their code. If it is not 
covered by the relevant code then we will not be able to deal with it.  

 
 Talk to / raise the matter with the Council’s Monitoring Officer for general advice 

before submitting a formal complaint. 
 
 Fully complete the attached complaint form (or ensure your letter of complaint 

addresses, in full, all of the issues covered in the complaint form). 
 
 Submit the written complaint by post or e-mail to the address set out below, as 

soon as possible after the date of the alleged breach.  
 
 

Address for submission of a written complaint 
 
Scott Wooldridge 
Monitoring Officer and Strategic Manager, Governance and Democratic 
Services 
Democratic Services 
Somerset Council 
County Hall 
Taunton 
Somerset TA1 4DY 
 
Or e-mail the Monitoring Officer at: [EMAIL ADDRESS]  

 
6. Timescales for dealing with complaints 
 
6.1 This procedure sets out how long it will usually take the Council to complete 

each stage of dealing with a complaint. The timescales are summarised in 
Appendix C. Parties must comply in a timely manner to requests for further 
information, and where information has not been provided within the specified 
timescales the Monitoring Officer will proceed in the absence of the information 
requested. This might lead to a complaint being rejected for lack of supporting 
evidence from the complainant or upheld for lack of contrary evidence from the  
Member Councillor concerned. 

 
6.2 Where either of the parties is unable to comply with a given timescale for 

response they may request an extension by setting out their reasons in writing 
to the Monitoring Officer. 

 
6.3 Any extension of a timescale is at the sole discretion of the Monitoring Officer 

who will only grant the extension where he / she is satisfied that it is in the public 
interest to do so. Where the Monitoring Officer does extend a timescale he / 
she will communicate the revised timescales to the parties together with the 
reason for their extension. 

Commented [SH6]:  
AH: Why are there ick marks rather than normal bullet points? 
 
SH response: Purely a matter of style 
 
Fourth bullet point – this refers to an “attached” complaint form but 
para 2.2 sends the reader to the website! 
 
SH response: attach complaint form or simply refer to link 
 

Commented [SH7]:   
AH: last line “Member” should, in this document, read “Councillor” 
 
SH response: amended as requested 

Appendix 2

Page 68



5 
 

 

7. Is this a complaint that can be dealt with? 
 
7.1  The assessment of a complaint will follow a two stage process. The first stage 

is to establish whether we can deal with your complaint. 
 
7.2  The points listed under First Stage at paragraphs 8.3 and 8.4 below will help 

you decide whether this is something that can be dealt with by the Monitoring 
Officer on behalf of the Standards Committee.  You should speak to the 
Monitoring Officer if you are not clear whether we can consider your complaint. 

 
7.3  Please note that trivial, frivolous, vexatious and politically motivated tit-for-tat 

complaints are likely to be rejected. 
 

8. First stage 
 

8.1  When a complaint is received, the Monitoring Officer will carry out a 
jurisdictional test against which complaints will be filtered to determine whether 
the allegation is within these procedures and, if so, whether it should be rejected 
or proceed to Second Stage assessment. This First Stage process will be 
completed within 5 working days. 

 
8.2  When there is insufficient information to make a determination as to whether 

the conduct complained of may demonstrate a potential breach of the Code of 
Conduct the Monitoring Officer may offer you a further 10 working days to 
provide further information to support the complaint.  If further information is not 
provided within 14 days of being requested, the complaint will be rejected.  

 
8.3  The Monitoring Officer (or his/her deputy) will make the decision about what 

action, if any, to take on your complaint. The matters that will be considered at 
this stage of the process are:- 

 
8.3.1 Your complaint must be about one or more named councillors of the 

authorities listed on the attached Appendix A; 
 
8.3.2 Your complaint must be about conduct that occurred while the 

councillor(s) complained about were in office. Conduct of an individual 
before they were elected, co-opted or appointed to the authority, or after 
they have resigned or otherwise ceased to be a councillor, cannot be 
considered; 

 
8.3.3 Your complaint must be that the councillor has, or may have, breached 

the relevant Council’s Code of Conduct; 
 
8.3.4 Your complaint must relate to matters where the councillor was acting 

as a councillor or representative of their council and therefore is not a 
private matter. 

 

8.3.5 Your complaint, if proven, would be a breach of the Code of Conduct 

Commented [SH8]:  
AH: refers to a list of authorities in Appendix A but the Appendix A in 
this report is entitled “Behaviour covered by the Code of Conduct” 
 
SH response: Amend to include 
 

Commented [SH9]:  
AH: Elsewhere in this document, there are frequent references to 
“city, town or parish council”.   For clarity it would, in my opinion, be 
better to add these words between “relevant” and “council’s”. 
 
SH response: That would exclude Somerset Council 

Appendix 2

Page 69



6 
 

under which the councillor was operating at the time of the alleged 
conduct. 

 
8.4  The following matters do not fall within the scope of the procedure for dealing 

with complaints about the conduct of members and will be rejected: 
 

8.4.1 Complaints against a council as a whole. These will be rejected and 
should be referred directly to the council in question for consideration 
under their own procedures. We can tell you who to contact. These 
complaints should be pursued through the relevant council’s own 
internal complaints procedure. For example, if a complaint relates to a 
councillor’s behaviour in relation to the determination of a planning 
application, this procedure will relate only to the councillor’s conduct and 
will not comment on the decision relating to the planning application, 
save to the extent necessary to explain the decision in relation to the 
code of conduct complaint; 

 
8.4.2 Complaints about employees of a council. Complaints about the actions 

of people employed by the relevant council e.g. the clerk of a city, town 
or parish council, also do not fall within the jurisdiction of the Standards 
Committee. Again these complaints should be pursued through the 
relevant council’s own internal complaints procedure. 

 

9. Second Stage 
 

9.1  Complaints that satisfy the initial jurisdictional test at the first stage will then be 
considered further to determine whether they merit further investigation. The 
criteria to be taken into account in reaching a decision are set out below. Your 
complaint will usually be rejected at this stage if, in the opinion of the Monitoring 
Officer, any of the following criteria applies: 

9.1.1 The complaint is the same or substantially the same as a complaint 
previously dealt with whether submitted by you or some other person; 

9.1.2 It is over 6 months since the alleged behaviour occurred and it would be 
unfair, unreasonable or otherwise not in the public interest to pursue 
unless there are, in the Monitoring Officer’s opinion, exceptional 
circumstances, such as there has been a failure to declare a disclosable 
pecuniary interest which would warrant the complaint being progressed;  

9.1.3 The allegation is anonymous and there are no exceptional compelling 
reasons to progress the complaint; 

9.1.4 The allegation discloses a potential breach of the Code of Conduct, but 
the complaint is not serious enough to merit any action and 

(i) the resources needed to investigate and determine the complaint 
are wholly disproportionate to the allegations;  and/or  

Appendix 2

Page 70



7 
 

(ii) whether, in all the circumstances, there is no overriding public 
benefit in carrying out an investigation; 

9.1.5 The complaint appears on an objective basis to be malicious, vexatious, 
politically motivated or tit-for-tat or is part of a series of complaints from 
the complainant and it is not in the public interest to pursue it; 

9.1.6 The councillor has remedied or made reasonable endeavours to remedy 
the issues to which the complaint relates and the complaint does not 
disclose sufficiently serious potential breaches of the Code of Conduct 
to merit further consideration; 

9.1.7 The complaint is about a person who is no longer a councillor of a 
relevant council and there are no overriding public interest reasons to 
merit further consideration; 

9.1.8 The complaint is from a councillor about another councillor of their 
council and the Monitoring Officer considers the allegations to be such 
that the issues between the councillors ought to be capable of resolution 
between them, whether with or without the assistance of their Clerk or 
some other person; and 

9.1.9 That a simple apology, training or conciliation would be the appropriate 
response; 

9.1.10 That a reasonable offer of local resolution is offered by the councillor but 
is rejected by you; 

9.1.11 It would otherwise be inappropriate to expend the Council’s resources 
on determining the complaint having regard to the circumstances of the 
complaint, any previous related complaints and the public interest. 

9.2  It is important to note that not every complaint that falls within the jurisdiction of 
the Standards Committee will be referred for investigation. The Monitoring 
Officer or the Standards Committee (as appropriate) must decide whether this 
is appropriate.  The Monitoring Officer will endeavour to resolve complaints 
without the need for a formal investigation wherever possible.   

 

 

10. Behaviour that constitutes a criminal offence 
 

10.1 Where a complaint is received which discloses behaviour that may constitute a 
criminal offence the Monitoring Officer will determine whether to refer such 
allegations to the police or other appropriate body. If the conduct relates to the 
failure to declare a disclosable pecuniary interest this will be done by initially 
undertaking the assessment of the complaint in the manner set out at the First 
Stage 1 prior to referral in order to determine if a potential failure to declare a 
disclosable pecuniary interest has occurred.   
 

Appendix 2

Page 71



8 
 

10.2  Where a complaint is referred to the police or some other body the Council will 
not take any action on the complaint, other than the referral, until the body to 
whichom the complaint has been referred to decides to take no action or any 
action theyit  takes has been finally determined.   
 

10.3   The Council will take such action as is necessary to ensure that it does not 
compromise the integrity of any investigation or proceedings undertaken by 
another body in relation to the allegations. 

 
10.4 If the police or other body decides to progress the complaint, then no further 

action will be taken on the complaint by this Council. If itthey decides not to 
progress the complaint, the Council will proceed to consider the complaint at 
Second Stage of the process (see paragraph 9 above).  
 

11. Multiple complaints about a councillor 
 

11.1 There may be instances when a number of complaints will be received about 
the same councillor from different complainants that relate to the same incident.  
When a complaint is substantially the same, it will be processed as a single 
complaint taking into consideration all of the complaints received up to the time 
the complaint is processed.  A single decision notice will be issued and will 
reflect the fact there has been more than one complainant associated with the 
matter, though all may not be named.  If further complaints relating to the same 
matter are received after the complaint is being processed these will not be 
added to the complaint but the complainants will be advised that a complaint 
about this matter is already being considered.  

 
 

12. Complaints about a matter that has been assessed  
 

12.1 There are occasions when a complaint is received on a matter that is the same 
or similar to a matter that has already been assessed.  If this is the case the 
complaint will be rejected.  In these circumstances you will be sent a copy of 
the decision notice that has previously been issued.  The name of the original 
complainant(s) will be redacted from the decision notice.  

 

13. Anonymous complaints 
 

13.1  The Council will not normally allow anonymous complaints as that would be 
against the principles of transparency and fairness and make matters more 
difficult to investigate. However, there may be exceptional compelling reasons 
as to why an anonymous complaint could be accepted without detriment to the 
process and where the allegation can be evidenced without reference to the 
complainant.  

 

14. What happens once you submit your complaint? 
 

Commented [SH10]:  
AH: “the body” is a single entity.   There the latter part of this 
sentence needs to read “until the body to which the complaint has 
been referred to decides to take no action or any action it takes has 
been finally determined.” 
 
SH response: amend as suggested 

Commented [SH11]:  
AH: First line “decide” needs to be “decides”; second line “If they 
decide” needs to be “If it decides”.   When referring to “the Police”, 
we are actually referring to the “Police Force” of the area in 
question – a single body. 
 
SH response: amend as suggested 

Appendix 2

Page 72



9 
 

14.1  First Stage: When you submit your complaint we will write to you to let you 
know we have received it within 3 working days confirming the identity of the 
officer dealing with the complaint, the reference number allocated, and the 
procedure to be followed.  The Monitoring Officer will then consider whether the 
complaint meets the jurisdictional tests at the First Stage (see paragraph 8 
above). The Monitoring Officer will advise you within 5 working days as to 
whether your complaint meets the test at Stage 1 and if so, the procedure that 
will then follow to consider whether the Second Stage criteria (at paragraph 9 
above) are met.  

 
14.2  Second Stage: Complaints will be categorised as follows and an assessment 

will be made as to whether there is some evidence which would suggest that 
there may have been a material breach of the Code of Conduct. The decisions 
that can be reached at any of these levels are; 

14.2.1 No further action should be taken in relation to the complaint 

14.2.2 The complaint should be dealt with through a process of informal 
resolution in the first instance  

14.2.3 The matter should be referred for formal investigation  

 
14.3  In reaching this decision, no finding of fact will be made. 
 
14.4 If further action is required (i.e. the decision at stage 2 is either to move to 

informal resolution or to formal investigation,) the Monitoring Officer will decide 
whether to deal with the complaint at level 1 (paragraphs 14.5 – 14.7) or level 
2 (paragraphs 14.8 – 14.10). 

 
Level 1 Complaint  
 
14.5 Complaints which are about procedural issues or unhappiness with decisions 

and are not Code related or which do not contain any evidence of any breach 
of the Code or are technical minor breaches will be determined at this stage by 
the Monitoring Officer without further inquiry and the Complainant advised 
accordingly within 20 working days of receipt of the complaint. The Monitoring 
Officer may confer with an Independent Person where he/she thinks fit, when 
determining a complaint at Level 1. This is an individual who is not a councillor 
or an employee of the Council and who the Council is required to appoint to 
assist it in dealing with complaints against councillors.  

 
14.6 The authority may also notify the councillor that a complaint has been received 

against them and invite their comments on it within 10 working days. In deciding 
whether or not to notify the councillor we will weigh up different factors. For 
example, would telling the councillor risk the complainant being intimidated or 
evidence destroyed, or if the complaint seems to fall outside of the jurisdiction 
of the Code of Conduct is there any need to hear from the councillor? If the 
decision is made not to notify the councillor about the complaint but the 
councillor becomes aware of the complaint and wishes to know what has been 

Commented [SH12]:  
AH: Second line – the comma after “investigation” should be a close 
bracket (to close the open bracket in the previous line) 
 
SH response: Amend as suggested 

Commented [SH13]:  
AH: Last sentence – for clarity I would suggest that the sentence be 
amended to read “This is an individual who is not a councillor or an 
employee of the Council…..” 
 
SH response: Amend as suggested 

Appendix 2

Page 73



10 
 

alleged and the identity of the complainant, then this information will be 
provided to them (unless the complainant has requested confidentiality and the 
Monitoring Officer has agreed to this request).  

 
14.7 If the Monitoring Officer receives more than 1 complaint about a councillor in 

relation to the same instance of conduct, all of which could be classed as Level 
1, then the Monitoring Officer can decide to treat those complaints as a Level 2 
complaint. 

 
Level 2 Complaint  
 
14.8 If the complaint does not fall within Level 1 then we will notify the councillor to 

whom the complaint relates, provide details of the complaint and invite them to 
make representations.  These must be received by the Monitoring Officer within 
10 working days of receiving the notification.  The Monitoring Officer may also 
contact the clerk of the cCity, tTown or pParish council, where appropriate and 
such other persons as the Monitoring Officer feels appropriate, to provide 
additional information.  

 
14.9 The Monitoring Officer will assess the complaint, any representations by the 

councillor and any additional information requested. However the purpose of 
this stage is not to conduct a formal investigation and only preliminary enquiries 
will be made, such as to establish whether a councillor was in fact present at 
the meeting to which the complaint relates.  

 
14.10 On the completion of this initial assessment the Monitoring Officer will contact 

you to advise you whether your complaint relates to a potential breach of the 
code of conduct and what action is proposed, if any.  The councillor will be 
similarly informed. This will all happen within 20  working days from the date we 
receive your complaint or additional information (where requested).  Before 
making any decision, the Monitoring Officer will discuss your complaint with the 
“Independent Person”.   

 

15. Informal Resolution 
 
15.1  An informal resolution is a more proportionate way of dealing with relatively 

minor allegations, one-off incidents or underlying disagreements between 
individuals. It is important to note that dealing with a matter by alternative 
resolution at the initial assessment stage is making no finding of fact as there 
has been no formal investigation. 

 
15.2  Matters which the Monitoring Officer might consider appropriate for informal 

resolution may include: 

15.2.1 the same particular breach of the Code by many councillors, indicating 
poor understanding of the Code and the authority’s procedures; 

15.2.2 a general breakdown of relationships, including those between 
councillors and officers, as evidenced by a pattern of allegations of minor 

Commented [SH14]:  
AH: “City, Town or Parish Council” to be consistent these do not 
need initial capital letters 
 
SH response: Amend as suggested 

Commented [SH15]:  
AH:  there is no need for quotation marks around the title 
“Independent Person” 
 
SH response: amend as suggested 

Appendix 2

Page 74



11 
 

disrespect, harassment or bullying to such an extent that it becomes 
difficult to conduct the business of the relevant council; 

15.2.3 misunderstanding of procedures or protocols; 

15.2.4 misleading, unclear or misunderstood advice from officers; 

15.2.5 lack of experience or training; 

15.2.6 interpersonal conflict; 

15.2.7 allegations and retaliatory allegations from the same councillors; 

15.2.8 allegations about how formal meetings are conducted; 

15.2.9 allegations that may be symptomatic of governance problems within the 
council, which are more significant than the allegations in themselves. 

15.3 Informal resolution could either be directed at the councillor who is the subject 
of the complaint, the councillor and yourself as complainant, or at the council 
more generally. 

15.4   Informal resolution can include such things as training, providing an apology, 
withdrawing a remark, mentoring, conflict resolution, mediation.  

15.5  Both yourself and the councillor will be consulted before a decision is made to 
proceed with informal resolution.  

16. Referral for Investigation 
 
16.1  If the Monitoring Officer considers following an assessment at level 2 that the 

complaint is both very serious in terms of the potential breach of the code and 
an investigation is warranted in the public interest to establish the facts then the 
Monitoring Officer or someone acting on their behalf will undertake this.  Only 
very exceptionally will a complaint result in an investigation. 

 
16.2  Because the circumstances of each serious complaint will vary it would be 

unrealistic to impose set timescales on each investigation at this stage. 
However, having reviewed the circumstances the Monitoring Officer will 
propose timescales for the completion of the investigation and will clearly 
communicate those to all interested parties. The Monitoring Officer will keep all 
parties informed of the progress of the investigation and where extensions to 
timescales are required, will clearly communicate to all parties the revised 
timescales and the reasons giving rise to the need to extend timescales. The 
Monitoring Officer will let all those involved know that this is the case and the 
process that will be followed.  

 
16.3  At the end of an investigation, the Monitoring Officer will issue a draft report and 

invite comments from the complainant and councillor. The Monitoring Officer 
will then issue a final report which he/she send to the complainant, the 

Appendix 2

Page 75



12 
 

Standards Committee, the councillor complained about, the Independent 
Person and the Clerk to the city, town or parish Council (where relevant).   

 
16.3.1 Option 1 - If the investigation reveals no failure to comply with the code 

or a minor/technical breach may have occurred or identifies a training 
requirement as opposed to any other form of sanction as being the 
appropriate response, then the Monitoring Officer, after consulting with 
the Independent Person, is authorised to issue guidance to either party, 
close the matter and issue the report to the complainant and the 
councillor complained about.  The Monitoring Officer has the discretion 
to refer the matter to the Standards Committee before exercising that 
power if they consider it appropriate. 

 
16.3.2 Option 2 - If the investigation reveals a more significant failure to comply 

with the code (which is not minor or technical in nature or where a need 
for training is not really the issue) then the Monitoring Officer in 
consultation with the Independent Person is authorised to seek a local 
resolution of the complaint providing all parties agree (acting 
reasonably). If a local resolution is not appropriate or not agreed by the 
parties then the outcome of the investigation will either be (1) reported 
to the Standards Committee’s Hearings Panel for a local oral hearing 
(see paragraph 16.5 below) or (2) where local resolution is considered 
by the Monitoring Officer to be appropriate but has not been agreed by 
the parties, the outcome of the investigation will form the basis of an 
Investigation Outcome report which will be published and issued to all 
parties. This will set out the nature of the complaint, the outcome of any 
investigation, the local resolution suggested by the Monitoring Officer 
and the response from the parties to this.  

 
16.4  The decision as to whether to proceed with Option 1 or 2 above shall rest with 

the Monitoring Officer in consultation with the Independent Person.  In making 
his/her decision, the Monitoring Officer will have regard to the relative costs 
involved and which option best serves the public interest. 

 
16.5  Oral Hearing stage – All hearings will be held in accordance with the rules on 

public access to meetings and information of the Council. However, within the 
limits set by those rules the hearing will be conducted on a relatively informal 
basis, both parties will be able to make representations and call witnesses.  At 
the end of the hearing the Panel, after consulting with the Independent Person 
will decide whether, on the balance of probabilities there has been a failure to 
comply with the Code of Conduct and what “sanction” or “sanctions” (if any) 
should be imposed.  

 
16.5.1 If an oral hearing is required and reaches a finding that there has been 

a failure to comply with the Code then there is a limited range of 
sanctions available as set out at Appendix B to this guidance.  There is 
no ability for the Standards Committee to suspend or disqualify a 
councillor. 

 

Commented [SH16]:  
AH: last line – everywhere else the Monitoring Officer is referred to 
as he/she but here it suddenly becomes “they”. 
 
SH response: needs to be gender neutral throughout 
 
 
 

Commented [SH17]:  
AH: the title of the group to hear complaints is the “Standards 
Hearing Sub-Committee”, nothing about a Panel etc.   the word 
“hearing” does not need to be in italics. 
 
SH response: The title of the Committee in Part D10 of the 
Constitution needs to be amended as it refers to Standards Hearing 
Panel Arrangements. Amend italics 

Formatted: Font: Not Italic

Appendix 2

Page 76



13 
 

16.5.2 Although there is no right of appeal against the decisions of the 
Monitoring Officer or PanelStandards Hearing Sub-Committee, if you are 
unhappy with the procedures followed (as opposed to the outcome) then 
you are still entitled to complain to the Local Government Ombudsman 
or challenge a decision through the Courts by way of Judicial Review.  

 
16.5.3 The procedure the Council has adopted is designed to be proportionate, 

timely and fair to both sides.  Its overriding objective is to seek to provide 
pragmatic local solutions to local problems wherever possible and to 
avoid costly and time consuming investigations/hearings.  

 

Commented [SH18]:  
AH: “Panel” needs to be replaced by “Standards Hearing Sub-
Committee” 
 
SH response: Amend as suggested 

Appendix 2

Page 77



14 
 

APPENDIX A 
 

Behaviour covered by the Code of Conduct 

You can complain about a councillor breaking any part of their council’s Code of 
Conduct.  As each council can adopt their own code there is no longer a standard 
code of conduct that applies to all local authorities.  This means you need to have 
seen the code of conduct relating to the councillor about whom you wish to complain 
and that the behaviour you wish to complain about is covered by the code.  The 
Standards Committee cannot consider any complaints that fall outside of the relevant 
code of conduct. 
 
The code that relates to councillors of Somerset Council covers the following areas:- 

 

• Treating others with respect 
 

• Not bullying any person 
 

• Not harassing any person 
 

• Promoting equalities and not discriminating unlawfully against any person 
 

• Not compromising or attempting to compromise, the impartiality of anyone who 
works for or on behalf of the Council 

 

• Not intimidating any person likely to be involved in any investigation or 
proceedings about someone’s misconduct 

 

• Not disclosing confidential information given in confidence or acquired or 
improperly using information gained as a result of their role for the advancement 
of those connected with them or preventing anyone from getting information 
they are entitled to by law 

 

• Not bringing their role or the Council into disrepute 
 

• Not using their position improperly, to their own or someone else’s advantage 
or disadvantage 

 

• Not misusing the Council’s resources 
 

• When using resources or authorising their use, acting in accordance with the 
Council’s requirements and not used for political purposes  
 

• Paying due regard and giving reasons for departing from any advice from the 
Council’s Chief Finance Officer or Monitoring Officer 

 

• Undertaking Code of Conduct training and co-operating with any Code of 
Conduct investigation and/or determination 
 

Commented [SH19]:  
AH: “relating to the councillor and council about whom….”   This 
might make sure that the complainant actually reads the relevant 
Code of Conduct and not the first they google! 
 
SH response:   Would suggest amend to  
 
‘This means you need to have seen the code of conduct relating to 
the particular council of the councillor about whom you wish to 
complain and that the behaviour you wish to complain about is 
covered by the code’. 
 

Appendix 2

Page 78



15 
 

• Not making trivial or malicious complaints against other councillors 
 

• Complying with any sanction imposed where they have been found to have 
breached the Code of Conduct 
 

• Failing to register or disclose their interests 
 

• Taking part in the discussion or making a decision where they have a 
“disclosable pecuniary interest”  
 

• Failing to register any gifts or hospitality (including its source) worth over £50 
that they have received or refused in their role or refused as a councillor worth 
over £50. 

•  
Any breaches in relation to requirements around “disclosable pecuniary interests” are 
matters for the Police as a criminal offence may have been committed.  We suggest 
you speak to the Council’s Monitoring Officer first as they should be able to advise you 
whether or not it is a matter for the Police. 
 
Although we have encouraged the Town & Parish Councils to adopt similar provisions 
they are not required to do so.  Accordingly, their code may look quite different so you 
do need to see a copy.  The Clerk to the relevant City, Town or Parish Council should 
be able to provide you with a copy. Alternatively, once provided, we hold copies of all 
City, Town and Parish Council codes on our website. The Code adopted by this 
Council is also available on our website at: 
 
 
 

Commented [SH20]:  
AH: – I believe the section “ that they have received in their role or 
refused as a…” would be better reading “that they have received or 
refuse in their roles as a…” since the refusal relates to the gift or 
hospitality. 
 
SH response: Amend as suggested 
 

Formatted: Bulleted + Level: 1 + Aligned at:  0.63 cm + Tab
after:  1.27 cm + Indent at:  1.27 cm

Commented [SH21]:  
AH: – Codes of Conduct of all City, Town and Parish Councils are held 
on “our website”.   Try finding that Code of Conduct for Exford 
Parish Council through the Somerset.gov.uk website. 
 
SH response: Have we been provided with a copy?!? I’m sure we 
could have a page om the website with all codes of conduct on. 

Appendix 2

Page 79



16 
 

APPENDIX B 
   

Sanctions available to Standards Committees  
 

The sanctions available to the Standards Committee are as set out below. In relation 
to the Town & Parish Councils in our area, we can only recommend a particular 
sanction to them but we do not have the power to enforce compliance. 

 

The Standards Committee does not have the power to suspend or disqualify a 
councillor. The sanctions available are:- 

 

• Report its findings to Council or City/Town/Parish Council for information; 
 

• Issue (or recommend to City/Town/Parish to issue) a formal censure 
 

• Recommending to the councillor’s  Group Leader (or in the case of un-grouped 
councillors, recommend to council) that he/she be removed from any or all 
Committees or Sub-Committees of the Council (or recommend such action to 
the City/Town/Parish Council); 

 

• Recommending to the Leader of the Council that the councillor be removed 
from the Executive, or removed from particular Portfolio responsibilities; 

 

• Instructing the Monitoring Officer to (or recommend to the City/Town/Parish) to 
arrange training for the councillor; 

 

• Removing from all outside appointments to which he/she has been appointed 
or nominated by the authority (or recommend to the City/Town/Parish Council); 

 

• Withdrawing facilities (or recommend to the City/Town/Parish Council) provided 
to the councillor by the Council, such as a computer, website and/or email and 
internet access;  

 

• Restricting contact (or recommend to the City/Town/Parish Council) to named 
officers or requiring contact be through named officers;  

 

• Excluding the councillor from the Council’s offices or other premises (or 
recommend to the City/Town/Parish Council), with the exception of meeting 
rooms as necessary for attending Council, Committee and Sub-Committee 
meetings; 

 

• If relevant, recommend to council that the councillor be removed from their 
role as leader of the Council; 

 

Appendix 2

Page 80



17 
 

• If relevant, recommend to the secretary or appropriate official of a political 
group that the councillor be removed as group leader or other position of 
responsibility. 

  

Appendix 2

Page 81



18 
 

APPENDIX C 

Timescales 
 

All timescales relate to the communication of the outcome of the relevant stage to 

the complainant and refer to the date on which the complaint is first received. 

 

Stage Cumulative timescale 

Acknowledgement 3 working days 

First Stage – jurisdictional test 5 working days 

Extension of time to allow complainant to provide further 
information where there is insufficient information initially 
provided 

+ up to 14 days (add 
the extension granted 
to timescales below) 

Determination of a level 1 complaint 20 working days 

Decision on a level 2 complaint as to whether the 
complaint relates to a potential breach of the code of 
conduct and what action is proposed 

20 working days 

Referral for investigation No timescales 

  

Commented [SH22]:  
AH: Extension of time allowed – why is this 14 days and not 14 
working days? 
 
SH response: 14 days was considered sufficient.  14 working days 
would extend the process by another working week. 

Appendix 2

Page 82



19 
 

 

APPENDIX D 

Process flowchart 

Appendix 2

Page 83



This page is intentionally left blank



 COMPLAINTS AGAINST COUNCILLORS PROCESS
In

fo
rm

a
l 

R
e

s
o

lu
ti

o
n

L
e
v
e

l 
O

n
e

 C
o

m
p

la
in

t
L

e
v
e

l 
T

w
o

 C
o

m
p

la
in

t

 Hearing Panel Stage 2 - Preliminary EnquiriesStage 1 (5 Days) Initial Assessment Investigation

 Complaint acknowledged 

within 3 DAYS, confirming 

the Officer dealing with it, 

the reference number and 

an explanation of the 

process  

DAY ONE: 

Complaint 

received by 

Monitoring 

Officer (MO)

 MO categorises the complaint: 

at what level; is there evidence 

of a material breach of the 

Code?

Category 1. No further action 

Category 2. For minor breaches, 

is an Informal resolution, such 

as training, possible with no 

formal investigation?

Category 3. Refer for formal 

investigation

Category One:  Minor 

breaches will be determined by 

MO with no or very limited 

further inquiry, and the 

complainant will be advised 

within 20 WORKING DAYS after 

receipt of the complaint, or as 

soon as possible thereafter.  

DEFINITIONS: 

MO = Monitoring Officer          IP   = Independent Person

Days = Working Days

Hearing Panel = a sub group of the Standards Committee, 

comprising the Chair or Vice Chair and two nominated 

members 

MO considers appropriate action 

and will consult with the 

Complainant and Councillor 

before deciding to proceed. 

Councillor will be informed at this 

stage, and invited to comment 

within 10 days

If the assessment indicates a 

potential breach the 

Complainant is advised of the 

proposed course of action, within 

20 WORKING DAYS after 

receipt of the complaint or 

additional information.

 MO will advise the 

Complainant if the 

complaint  falls within the 

scope of the Standards 

Committee process within 

5 DAYS.

MO will propose a timescale for 

the investigation and 

communicate with all interested 

parties. MO will consult with the 

Independent Person (IP), council 

clerks or other relevant persons.

Post investigation, MO 

distributes draft outcomes 

report to the Councillor and 

Complainant for comments. 

MO then issues final report to 

Complainant, Councillor, 

Standards Committee, IP, and 

Clerk to Parish/Town Council.

– If no breach is found, the

case is closed in consulation

with the IP. 

If a Breach is established and a 

local solution cannot be found or 

agreed by all parties the case is 

referred to the Hearings Panel.

There is no right of appeal on the 

decision. However complaints about  

procedure can be made to the Local 

Gov Ombudsman, or pursued 

through the Courts.

Where upheld the Panel can impose, 

or report to the Council or Parish 

Council with a recommendation for 

sanctions.

 Publication of the decision and 

outcomes will be in accordance with 

the media protocol.

NB:  The MO has sole discretion to extend timescales 

where it is deemed to be in the 

public interest

Please refer to the document ‘How to make a Complaint 

about the behaviour of a local authority councillor in 

Somerset’ for further details of the process

Appendix 3

P
age 85



T
his page is intentionally left blank



COMPLAINTS AGAINST COUNCILLORS

STAGE 1 INITIAL 

ASSESSMENT (5 DAYS)
2 - PRELIMINARY ENQUIRIES 3 - INVESTIGATION 4- HEARING

L
E

V
E

L
 T

W
O

 C
O

M
P

L
A

IN
T

L
E

V
E

L
 O

N
E

 C
O

M
P

L
A

IN
T

IN
F

O
R

M
A

L
 R

E
S

O
L
U

T
IO

N

DAY ONE: Complaint 

received by Monitoring 

Officer (MO)

 Complaint acknowledged 

within 3 DAYS, confirming 

the Officer dealing with it, 

the reference number and 

an explanation of the 

process  

 MO will advise the 

complainant if the complaint  

falls within the scope of the 

Standards Committee process 

within 5 DAYS.

 MO categorises the 

complaint   

Category One:  Minor 

breaches will be determined 

by MO with no or very limited 

further inquiry, and the 

complainant will be advised 

within 20 WORKING DAYS 

after receipt of the complaint, 

or as soon as possible 

thereafter.  

is there evidence of a 

material breach of the 

Code?

 Is the case against an Officer 

or delivery of services. If yes, 

case referred to relevant 

Complaints process. If no, 

case dismissed.

Category 2. For minor breaches, 

is an Informal resolution, such 

as training, possible with no 

formal investigation?

MO considers appropriate action 

and will consult with the 

Complainant and Councillor 

before deciding to proceed. 

Category 3. Refer for formal 

investigation

MO will consult with the 

Independent Person (IP), council 

clerks or other relevant persons.

If a Breach is established can a 

local solution be found and 

agreed by all parties?

If no the case is referred 

to the Hearing Panel

 If no breach is found, the case 

is closed in consulation with the 

IP.

Where upheld the Panel 

can impose, or report to 

the Council or Parish 

Council with a 

recommendation for 

sanctions.

NO

YES

NO

YES

YES

NO

NO

Appendix 4

Page 87



This page is intentionally left blank



Draft Media Protocol 

Event Method Audience Person responsible Notes 

Reminder of standards 
committee including role and 
process for making 
complaints 

Press release/and or 
Website 

Local press Comms Team Twice a year 

Issue of Standards 
Committee agenda 

Published on website and 
front page of agenda sent 
to Local media  

Local press/all 
members 

Comms Team/Monitoring 
Officer 

This may prompt further 
media enquiries 

Press query - On receipt of a 
complaint 

Verbal or written Query only Comms/Monitoring Officer If a query is raised by the 
press in which they name 
the Member complained 
about: Confirm name of 
member; date complaint 
received; type of person 
complaining (e.g. member of 
public); relevant parts of the 
Code. This information will 
not be provided until 3 
workings days after a 
member has been notified in 
writing of the complaint. 

Press query – Following 
consideration of a complaint 
by the Monitoring Officer or 
Standards Committee (initial 
sifting) 

Verbal or written Query only Comms/Monitoring Officer The Council will not publicise 
decisions in relation to Code 
of Conduct complaints at this 
stage.  
If a query is raised by the 
press in which they name 
the Member complained 
about:  
Confirm name of member; 
date complaint received; type 
of person complaining (e.g. 
member of public); relevant 

Appendix 5

P
age 89



parts of the Code; date 
complaint considered; reason 
for non-referral (if applicable); 
if investigation will take place; 
if action other than 
investigation will take place 
and if so, what. This 
information will not be 
provided until 3 workings 
days after a member has 
been notified in writing of the 
decision. 

Press query – during an 
investigation.  

Verbal or written  Query only Comms/Monitoring Officer Confirm that an investigation 
is ongoing; give generic info 
about investigations; explain 
the possible outcomes of 
investigations. Explain that 
no further comments can be 
made until the investigative 
process is complete. 

Press query – following an 
investigation and where there 
has been no breach, no 
further action is needed or 
the matter has been resolved 
in some other way (other 
action). 

Verbal or written Query only Comms/Monitoring Officer The Investigation report will 
not be published but matter 
should be reported to 
Standards Committee. If the 
matter has generated local 
interest the Council may 
consider putting out a brief 
statement explaining the 
outcome and reasoning. 
Requests for a copy of the 
Investigation Report would be 
dealt with under the Freedom 
of Information Act 2000.  

Press query – hearing and 
whether in the public domain 

Verbal or written Query only Comms/Monitoring Officer There is a presumption that a 
hearing following an 

Commented [MW1]: Direct lift from LGA Guidance 

Commented [MW2]: Direct lift from LGA guidance 

Appendix 5

P
age 90



investigation would normally 
be held in public unless there 
are lawful reasons for all or 
part of it to be heard as 
exempt or confidential 
matters. 

Results of hearings of 
Committee 

Press release following 
recommended template 

Local press/all 
members/website 
news area 

Comms/Monitoring Officer The final investigation 
report: Whether a copy can 
be provided will depend on 
whether the report is 
confidential or considered to 
be in the public domain.  
The outcome of the 
hearing: 
If the Member is found in 
breach but no action is 
needed, the Council will 
issue a public summary 
which will say that the 
councillor has failed to follow 
the Code but that no action 
needs to be taken, outline 
what happened and give 
reasons for the Standards 
Hearing Sub-Committee’s 
decision not to take any 
action.  
 
If the Member is found to be 
in breach and a sanction is 
imposed, a public summary 
will be issued to say that the 
Member failed to follow the 
Code, outlining what 
happened; explaining what 

Appendix 5

P
age 91



sanction has been imposed 
and giving reasons for the 
decision made by the 
Standards Hearing Sub-
Committee.  
 
If the Member is found not to 
have breached the Code; a 
public notice will only be 
issued if the Member has no 
objection.  

Press query regarding 
number of complaints made 
about a Councillor 

Verbal or written Query only Comms/Monitoring Officer The number of complaints 
can be confirmed. In the 
event of a large number of 
names needing to be 
checked, a Freedom of 
Information request may be 
required. 

Press query regarding name 
of complainant 

Verbal or written Query only Comms/Monitoring Officer The names of complainants 
will not be disclosed as this 
might deter complainants 
from bringing legitimate 
concerns to the Council’s 
attention. In addition, by 
revealing the names of 
complainants we run the risk 
of compromising our duty to 
protect whistleblowers. 

Press query regarding cost of 
complaint and or 
investigation 

Verbal or written Query only Comms/Monitoring Officer The Council does not keep a 
record of time spent on 
individual complaints. For 
specific investigations, a 
Freedom of Information 
request will be required. 

 

Commented [SH3]:  
AH: last column end of each paragraph refers to “the 
panel”   This should make reference to the “Standards 
Hearing Sub-Committee” 
 
SH response: amend as suggested 

Appendix 5

P
age 92



 1 of 4 

Somerset Council 
 
Standards Committee – 28 June 2023 
  
  

 
 

 
Report of Priority Group One – Committee & Sub-Committee Composition 
Lead Officer: David Clark 
Report Author: David Clark 
Contact Details:  David.clark@somerset.gov.uk 01749 341539 
 

1. Summary  

1.1.  The Localism Act 2011 imposes a duty on local authorities to promote and 
maintain high standards of conduct by members and co-opted members of the 
authority, to adopt a code of conduct governing the behaviour of members of 
the local authority while in office, to make arrangements to investigate and 
make decisions on allegations that the code of conduct has been breached, 
and to appoint one or more independent persons (Independent Persons) 
whose views must be sought and taken into account when deciding on 
breaches of the code of conduct. 

1.2.  The Standards Committee and the Standards Hearing Panel are a fundamental 
element of the Council’s framework for managing standards of member 
conduct and allow the Council to maintain effective oversight of the 
arrangements put in place and their terms of reference form part of the 
Council’s constitution. 
 

Page 93

Agenda Item 6

mailto:David.clark@somerset.gov.uk


 2 of 4 

1.3.  The Governance Workstream within the Local Government Reorganisation 
project produced 3 draft documents for consideration by the Standards 
Committee: 
 

i. Draft Investigations and Hearing Procedures 
ii. Somerset Council Guidance on making a Code of Conduct Complaint 

(incl process flow chart) 
iii. Draft Somerset Council Code of Conduct Complaints Media Protocol 

 

1.4.  As part of their review the Priority Group also considered whether or not it 
would be appropriate for co-opted members of the Standards Committee to be 
eligible as voting members of the Standards Hearing Sub-Committee. Under 
current arrangements a Standards Hearing Sub-Committee is made up of 3 
members to be selected from the Somerset Councillors on the Standards 
Committee. Therefore the 3 members of the sub-committee are selected from 
a small pool of 5 Somerset Councillors.   

 

2. Recommendations 

2.1.  That the Standards Committee: 
 
Consider what, if any, changes they wish to recommend to Full Council 
regarding the membership of the Standards Hearing Sub-Committee or the 
Standards Committee itself. 

 

3. Background 

3.1.  The Council has established a Standards Committee. The role of the standards 
committee is to supervise all of the council’s arrangements for maintaining and 
enforcing standards of Member conduct. 

3.2.  In the lead up to vesting day the Governance Workstream within the Local 
Government Reorganisation project produced 3 draft documents for 
consideration by the Standards Committee. These draft documents sought to 
improve the guidance and process regarding Code of Conduct Complaints, 
following the recently published guidance by the Local government Association 
and local best practice from the 5 legacy Councils.  

3.3.  The Priority Group has considered options for the inclusion of co-opted 
members of the Committee on the Standards Hearing Sub-Committee. Having 
undertaken a peer review of neighbouring Council’s approaches the following 
information was established (further details are available in Appendix A: 
 

Page 94



 3 of 4 

• Cornwall Council – Final decision are taken by full Standards Committee 
with only Cornwall Councillors having voting rights 

• Dorset Council – Standards matters are dealt with by a sub-committee of 
their the Audit and Governance Committee. Co-opted members are not 
eligible to sit on a sub-committee.  

• Wiltshire Council – The Standards Committee consists of 11 Wiltshire 
Councillors and 4 co-opted (non-voting) members. Hearing sub-
committees are made up of 3 members with a maximum of 2 co-opted 
members. 

• Buckinghamshire Council – No co-opted members on their Standards 
Committee 

 

3.4.  Therefore you will see that only Wiltshire Council allows co-opted Members to 
sit on their Hearing sub-committee although it is unclear if they can have 
voting rights on the sub-committee if they do not have such rights on the main 
Standards Committee. 

 

4. Options Considered and any consultation undertaken 

4.1.  The options available to the Standards Committee include: 
 

• Make a recommendation that co-opted members of the Standards 
Committee become eligible to be full voting members of the Standards 
Hearing Sub-Committee. 

• Make a recommendation that co-opted members of the Standards 
Committee become eligible to be advisory members of the Standards 
Hearing Sub-Committee with no voting rights. 

• Make a recommendation that the membership of the Standards 
Committee is increased to include additional Somerset Councillors. 

• Make no changes to the current arrangements. 
 

 

5. Legal, Equalities, Financial and Other Implications 

5.1.  The Council has a legal obligation to maintain high standards of conduct of its 
Members. The effective administration of the code of conduct for members will 
also reduce the risk of reputational harm to the Council and promote good 
governance within the Council. 

5.2.  Following local government reorganisation in Somerset the Council now also 
administers the Code of Conduct complaints process for all City, Town and 
Parish Councils within their area. 

Page 95



 4 of 4 

5.3.  Because the investigation and determination of complaints about breaches of 
the code of conduct is quasi-judicial in nature it is important for that processes 
adopted should be fair and transparent and that the Council has ready access 
to eligible members to form the Hearing Panel Sub-Committee. 

 

6. Background papers 

6.1.  The Committee should refer to the following documents:  
• LGA Model Code of Conduct  
• LGA guidance on Code of Conduct Complaints Handling 

 

7. Appendices 

 Appendix A – Other Councils’ Standards Committee arrangements 

 
Note  For sight of individual background papers please contact the report author 
 
 
 

Page 96



Standards Committee – P1 
Other Councils’ Standards Committee setup 
 
Cornwall Council 
 
Standards Committee consists of: 
8 Elected Members (4 conservatives, 1 Independent, 1 Liberal Democrat, 1 Green) 
4 Independent (non-voting) 
5 Town/Parish Council representatives (non-voting) 
1 Town/Parish Council Clerk 
 
A Sub-Group is convened to assist the MO reach a decision on Sanctions but is referred back to full Standards 
Committee for consideration/approval. 
 
Contact: standardscommittee@cornwall.gov.uk 
 
Dorset Council 
 
Audit and Governance Committee consists of: 
10 Elected Members 
 
Hearings Sub-Committees consist of 3 Elected Members 
 
The Dorset Committee (27 February 2023) agreed that the Committee membership should be extended to 
include 2 co-opted members.   This is subject to approval at full council on 11 May.   If approved the new co-
opted members should be in place by the late Autumn. 
 
“Dorset Council does not have a separate Standards Committee; hearings relating to the adopted Code of 
Conduct are undertaken by a Sub-committee of our Audit & Governance Committee (the Assessment Sub-
committee and the Hearings Sub-committee).  The membership of these Sub-committees is drawn from the 
membership of the Audit & Governance Committee and although the Council has recently agreed to include co-
opted members onto its main Audit & Governance Committee these co-opted members will not be eligible to 
serve on either of the Sub-committees.  I’m not aware of any plans to change this arrangement in the current 
municipal year.” 
 
Wiltshire Council 
 
Standards Committee consists of: 
 
11 Elected Members (with named Substitutes available) 
4 Co-opted members (non-voting) 
 
An Assessment Sub-Committee determines if the complaint is valid on advice from the MO 
 
A meeting of the Hearing Sub-Committee on 7 April 2021 had 2 Elected Members and 1 Co-opted Member as 
the panel. 
 
“Thank you for your email. In accordance with paragraph 2.5.14 of Part 3B of our Constitution a Standards 
Hearing Sub-Committee “shall comprise 3 elected Members from whom a chairman will be elected. The Sub-
Committee may include up to 2 non-voting co-opted Members of the Standards Committee”. 
  
“In the case of the 7 April 2021 Sub-Committee there were three elected members and 1 co-opted non-voting 
member. 
  

Page 97



“The details of the number of elected members and co-opted members you list is correct. 
  
“We have recently reviewed Part 3 of our constitution at our most recent annual meeting and the membership 
of sub-committees element was not amended, so I would say at present there are not plans to amend them 
further this municipal year. 
 
Buckinghamshire Council 
 
Standards & General Purposes Committee consists of: 
 
14 Elected Members (11 Conservatives, 2 Liberal Democrat, 1 Labour) 
 
“We can confirm that you have correctly identified the current membership of the Council’s Standards & 
General Purposes Committee. 
  
“The Council has not yet chosen to appoint co-opted members to the main Committee nor has it any current 
plans to do so. It is an interesting question as to whether a co-opted member could serve on a formal hearing 
sub-committee. I presume that they could but – as with their membership of the main committee – they would 
have no vote and could not take part in any final decision only the discussion, akin to the Independent 
Person.  If we were ever to consider that, we would want to ensure all participants knew the difference 
between the role and status of co-opted members and the Independent Person.  Some councils have however 
decided to appoint former independent persons as co-optees of their main committees alongside their current 
Independent Person.” 
 

Page 98



 1 of 4 

Somerset Council 
 
Standards Committee – 28 June 2023 
  
  

 
 

 
Report of Priority Group Two & Three – Model Code of Conduct Adoption by City, 
Town & Parish Councils and Review of Officer Code of Conduct 
Lead Officer: David Clark 
Report Author: David Clark 
Contact Details:  David.clark@somerset.gov.uk 01749 341539 
 

1. Summary  

1.1.  The Localism Act 2011 imposes a duty on local authorities to promote and 
maintain high standards of conduct by members and co-opted members of the 
authority, to adopt a code of conduct governing the behaviour of members of 
the local authority while in office, to make arrangements to investigate and 
make decisions on allegations that the code of conduct has been breached, 
and to appoint one or more independent persons (Independent Persons) 
whose views must be sought and taken into account when deciding on 
breaches of the code of conduct. 

1.2.  As part of the preparations for Local Government Reorganisations the legacy 
Somerset Councils all adopted the same Code of Conduct in 2022, largely 
based on the Local Government Association Model Code. At the same time a 
version suitable for adoption by City, Town and Parish Councils was co-
produced in partnership with the Somerset Association of Local Councils and 
promoted to the sector. 

1.3.  Some 14 months after that promotion it is timely to revisit the situation with a 
review of the level of adoption in the sector and thoughts on next steps. Priority 
Group Two have undertaken some valuable analysis on the level of adoption 
within Somerset.  

1.4.  Furthermore Priority Group Three have undertaken a review of the Officer Code 
of Conduct and their observations have been presented to the Service Director 
for Workforce in order to consult the Trade Unions on the proposed changes. 

  

Page 99

Agenda Item 7

mailto:David.clark@somerset.gov.uk


 2 of 4 

 

2. Recommendations 

2.1.  That the Standards Committee: 
 

i. Note the number of City, Town & Parish Councils that have adopted the 
model code and agree that on behalf of the Committee the Monitoring 
Officer continues to promote its adoption by means of an online survey. 
 

ii. Note that their observations on the Officer Code of Conduct have been 
presented to the Service Director of Workforce who intends to share it 
with the Trade unions and any observations and feedback will be 
presented to the Committee in due course.  

 

3. Background 

3.1.  To assist with the transition to Somerset Council a single Code of Conduct was 
adopted by all the legacy Councils in 2022. This ‘Somerset’ Code was based on 
the LGA Model Code of Conduct with only minor alterations to reflect local 
circumstance and practice. At the same time a modified version was co-
produced in partnership with the Somerset Association of Local Councils 
(SALC) that was suitable for adoption by the City, Town & Parish Council sector.  

3.2.  This model code was promoted to the sector by means of a joint letter from the 
Monitoring Officers and SALC -see Appendix 1 

3.3.  This letter set out the benefits of adopting a single code across the County 
including: 
  

• A commitment by the LGA to undertake an annual review of the Code to 
ensure it continues to be fit- for- purpose, incorporating advances in 
technology, social media and changes in legislation. 

• Dual-hatted members only having to adhere to a single code, avoiding 
the confusion of dealing with different codes for different organisations.   

• A wealth of information to assist in interpreting the Code including:- 

➢ Significant detail within the Code itself to better aid interpretation 

➢ Separate detailed guidance on the Code 

➢ Training slides to support Councils in understanding the Code. 

Page 100



 3 of 4 

3.4.  The analysis undertaken by Priority Group Two can be seen in Appendix 2. In 
order to continue to promote the adoption of the model code within this sector 
it is proposed that Monitoring Officer, on behalf of the Committee, conduct a 
simple online survey with the sector that asks the following questions: 
 

1. Name of your organisation 
2. Can you confirm you have an adopted code of conduct? 
3. Is your code based on the Somerset/LGA Model Code? 

i. If not can you provide a short statement to confirm the reasons 
why or if you plan to do so in the future? 

4. Can you provide a url link to your adopted code of conduct? 

3.5.  As part of the Standards Committee Terms of Reference they have a 
responsibility to: 
 

• To review the operation and effectiveness of the Council’s Officer Code 
of Conduct and make recommendations on proposed changes to the 
Council. 

 
Having concluded their review the observations of Priority Group Three have 
been passed to the Workforce Service Director who now intends to consult with 
the Trade Unions on any proposed changes. 

 

4. Options Considered and any consultation undertaken 

4.1.  Direct approaches by Priority Group Two to the sector were considered but it 
was believed that the role of the Committee in promoting the model code is 
best served by following up on the letter from the Monitoring Officers and 
SALC that was sent in April 2022. 
 
In respect of the Officer Code of Conduct the Workforce Service Director has 
been consulted and through him the trade unions. 

 

5. Legal, Equalities, Financial and Other Implications 

5.1.  The Council has a legal obligation to maintain high standards of conduct of its 
Members. The effective administration of the code of conduct for members will 
also reduce the risk of reputational harm to the Council and promote good 
governance within the Council. 

5.2.  Following local government reorganisation in Somerset the Council now also 
administers the Code of Conduct complaints process for all City, Town and 
Parish Councils within their area. 

Page 101



 4 of 4 

5.3.  Because the investigation and determination of complaints about breaches of 
the 
code of conduct is quasi-judicial in nature it is important for that processes 
adopted should be fair and transparent. 

 

6. Background papers 

6.1.  Joint letter from Somerset MO’s and SALC 
 

7. Appendices 

7.1.  Appendix 1 - joint letter from the Monitoring Officers and SALC 
 
Appendix 2 – Analysis undertaken by Priority Group 2 

  

 
Note  For sight of individual background papers please contact the report author 
 
 
 

Page 102



 

To: All City, Town and Parish Councils in Somerset     Date: 8 April 2022 

 

Dear City, Town and Parish Councillors and Clerks 

Local Government Association Model Councillor Code of Conduct 

We are writing to you regarding the Local Government Association (“LGA”) Model Councillor Code of 
Conduct (“the Code”) which  has been produced by the LGA in association with key partners and is 
being promoted to councils across the country. The Code is available for all councils to adopt with or 
without amendments. 

There are a number of benefits of this new Code including:-  

• A commitment by the LGA to undertake an annual review of the Code to ensure it continues 
to be fit- for- purpose, incorporating advances in technology, social media and changes in 
legislation.  

• A wealth of information to assist in interpreting the Code including:- 

 Significant detail within the Code itself to better aid interpretation, 

 Separate detailed guidance on the Code,  

 Training slides to support Councils in understanding the Code.  

• Many councils are adopting this Code across the country.  

In February this year, Somerset County Council resolved to adopt the LGA Code with amendments 
from May 2022 both for the County Council but also the new Somerset Unitary from April 2023.  

In addition, the District Councils in Somerset are being recommended, by their Monitoring Officers, 
to adopt the LGA Code by September this year.  

We attach a copy of the LGA Code which has been adapted for City, Town and Parish Councils with 
some suggested improvements in blue. The Code builds upon your existing Code of Conduct but is 
brought up-to-date to include such things as social media, harassment and importantly, a 
recognition that, as councillors, you should be able to undertake your role without being 
intimidated, abused, bullied, or threatened by anyone, including the general public. 

This Code has been designed to protect your democratic role, encourage good conduct and 
safeguard the public’s trust in local government. 

 

Page 103



In the circumstances, the Somerset Monitoring Officers and the Somerset Association of Local 
Councils (“SALC”) highly commend the LGA Code to you.  

Ultimately the decision as to whether to adopt the new Code rests with your Council. To assist you in 
reaching this decision, we have included at the bottom of this letter a link to the guidance that is 
available to you should you choose to adopt the LGA Code. We would encourage you to review this.  

Should you decide to adopt the LGA Code, we would encourage you to do so at your annual council 
meeting in May this year, so that all councillors in Somerset, particularly dual and triple hatted 
members, can be working to the same Code of Conduct. This will provide clarity and consistency for 
councillors and the public. 

In addition to the wealth of guidance, should you adopt the LGA Code, SALC and the Somerset 
Monitoring Officers will continue to offer advice and support to you in relation to interpretation of 
the Code of Conduct should you require it. We would also be happy to facilitate a number of training 
events for City, Town and Parish Councils on the new Code.  

Please do not hesitate to contact Justin Robinson at SALC or your local Monitoring Officer, should 
you require any further advice or clarification in relation to the content of this letter or the attached 
LGA Code.  

Yours faithfully 

         

Scott Wooldridge  Justin Robinson    Melanie Wellman 

Monitoring Officer  Chief Executive Officer   Monitoring Officer 

Somerset County Council Somerset Association Local Councils Sedgemoor District Council 

 

 

     

David Clark   Amy Tregellas    Jill Byron 

Monitoring Officer  Monitoring Officer   Monitoring Officer 

Mendip District Council   Somerset West and Taunton Council South Somerset Council  

 

Link to LGA Guidance: https://tinyurl.com/38xze3k4  

  

Page 104

https://tinyurl.com/38xze3k4


Somerset Council - Standards Committee
Members' Code of Conduct Checklist

Nam
e

Dist
ric

t

Curre
nt C

ode if
 n

ot S
CC/L

GA

SC
C/L

GA C
ode C

onsid
ere

d Y/
N

SC
C/L

GA C
ode A

dopte
d Y/

N

1 Abbas & Templecombe SSDC Y

2 Aller SSDC NALC Y 13/03/23

3 Ansford SSDC

4 Ash SSDC Y

5 Ashbrittle SWT

6 Ashcott Sedgemoor Y

7 Ashill SSDC 06/03/23

8 Ashwick Mendip DC's Code N 10/05/23

9 Axbridge Town Sedgemoor Y

10 Babcary SSDC Other Y

11 Badgworth Sedgemoor Y

12 Baltonsborough Mendip Y

13 Barrington SSDC Y

14 Barton St David SSDC Y

15 Barwick & Stoford SSDC Y

16 Batcombe Mendip Y

17 Bathealton SWT

18 Bawdrip Sedgemoor Y

19 Beckington Mendip

20 Beercrocombe SSDC

21 Berkley Mendip

22 Berrow Sedgemoor

23 Bickenhall, Curland, Neroche, Orchard Portman & Staple Fitzpaine SWT Y

24 Bicknoller SWT Y

25 Binegar Mendip

26 Bishop's Hull SWT Y

27 Bishop's Lydeard & Cothelstone SWT Y

28 Bradford on Tone SWT NALC Y N

29 Brean Sedgemoor Y

30 Brent Knoll Sedgemoor Y

31 Brewham SSDC 01/07/22

32 Bridgwater Town Sedgemoor Y

33 Bridgwater Without Sedgemoor

34 Broadway SSDC 04/04/23

35 Brompton Ralph SWT NALC 11/05/22

36 Brompton Regis SWT 04/05/22

37 Broomfield Sedgemoor Y

38 Brushford SWT Y

39 Bruton Town SSDC Y

40 Brympton SSDC Y

41 Buckland Dinham Mendip Y

42 Buckland St Mary SSDC Y

43 Burnham on Sea & Highbridge Sedgemoor Y

44 Burnham Without Sedgemoor Y

45 Burrowbridge SWT Old NALC N

46 Burtle Sedgemoor Y

47 Butleigh Mendip ? N 17/05/23

48 Cannington Sedgemoor Y

49 Carhampton SWT Y

50 Cary Moor (Alford, Lovington, North Barrow & South Barrow) SSDC Y

51 Castle Cary SSDC Y

52 Catcott Sedgemoor Y

53 Chaffcombe SSDC DC amend N

54 Chapel Allerton Sedgemoor 22/05/23

55 Chard Town SSDC NALC Y

56 Charlton Horethorne SSDC Y

57 The  Charltons (Charlton Mackrell) SSDC Y

58 Charlton Musgrove SSDC

59 Cheddar Sedgemoor Y

60 Cheddon Fitzpaine SWT Y

61 Chedzoy Sedgemoor Y

62 Chewton Mendip Mendip Y

63 Chilcompton Mendip

Page 105



Somerset Council - Standards Committee
Members' Code of Conduct Checklist

Nam
e

Dist
ric

t

Curre
nt C

ode if
 n

ot S
CC/L

GA

SC
C/L

GA C
ode C

onsid
ere

d Y/
N

SC
C/L

GA C
ode A

dopte
d Y/

N

64 Chilthorne Domer SSDC Y

65 Chilton Polden Sedgemoor

66 Chilton Trinity Sedgemoor Y

67 Chipstable SWT

68 Chiselborough SSDC

69 Churchstanton SWT Y

70 Clatworthy SWT Y

71 Coleford Mendip Y

72 Combe Florey SWT

73 Combe St Nicholas SSDC Y

74 Comeytrowe SWT Y

75 Compton Bishop Sedgemoor Y

76 Compton Dundon SSDC Y

77 Corfe SWT

78 Corton Denham SSDC Y

79 Cossington Sedgemoor Y

80 Cotford St Luke SWT Y

81 Cranmore Mendip

82 Creech St Michael SWT Y

83 Crewkerne SSDC Y

84 Croscombe Mendip Y

85 Crowcombe SWT

86 Curry Mallet SSDC Y Feb 20/02/23

87 Curry Rivel SSDC Y

88 Cutcombe SWT Y

89 Ditcheat Mendip Y

90 Donyatt SSDC

91 Doulting Mendip Y Feb

92 Dowlish Wake SSDC 23/05/23

93 Drayton SSDC Y

94 Dulverton SWT Y

95 Dunster SWT Y

96 Durleigh Sedgemoor Old NALC N

97 East Brent Sedgemoor

98 East Chinnock SSDC Y

99 East Coker SSDC Y

100 East Huntspill Sedgemoor

101 East Pennard Mendip Y

102 Edington Sedgemoor Y

103 Enmore Sedgemoor Y

104 Evercreech Mendip Old NALC Y

105 Exford SWT

106 Exmoor SWT Y

107 Exton SWT Y

108 Fiddington Sedgemoor Y

109 Fitzhead SWT Y

110 Fivehead SSDC Y

111 Frome Mendip Y

112 Glastonbury Mendip NALC Y May

113 Goathurst Sedgemoor

114 Godney Mendip Y

115 Great Elm Mendip

116 Halse SWT

117 Hambridge & Westport SSDC DC's Y

118 Hardington Mandeville SSDC Y

119 Haselbury Plucknett SSDC Y

120 Hatch Beauchamp SWT Y

121 Hemington Mendip

122 Henstridge SSDC Y

123 High Ham SSDC Y

124 Hinton St George SSDC Y

125 Holcombe Mendip Y

126 Holford SWT Y

Page 106



Somerset Council - Standards Committee
Members' Code of Conduct Checklist

Nam
e

Dist
ric

t

Curre
nt C

ode if
 n

ot S
CC/L

GA

SC
C/L

GA C
ode C

onsid
ere

d Y/
N

SC
C/L

GA C
ode A

dopte
d Y/

N

127 Horsington SSDC Y

128 Horton SSDC Y

129 Huish Champflower SWT Y

130 Huish Episcopi SSDC Y

131 Ilchester SSDC 2012

132 Ilminster SSDC Y

133 Ilton SSDC Y

134 Isle Abbotts SSDC Y

135 Keinton Mandeville SSDC Y

136 Kilmersdon Mendip

137 Kilve SWT 16/05/23

138 Kingsbury Episcopi SSDC Y

139 Kingsdon SSDC Y

140 Kingston St Mary SWT

141 Langford Budville SWT Y

142 Langport SSDC Y

143 Leigh on Mendip Mendip DC's N

144 Litton Mendip Y

145 Long Load SSDC Old NALC Y

146 Long Sutton SSDC Old NALC Y

147 Lopen SSDC

148 Luccombe SWT Y

149 Luxborough SWT Y

150 Lydeard St Lawrence & Tolland SWT

151 Lydford on Fosse Mendip N

152 Lympsham Sedgemoor Y

153 Lyng Sedgemoor Y

154 Mark Sedgemoor Y

155 Marston Magna SSDC Y

156 Martock SSDC Y

157 Meare Mendip Y

158 Mells Mendip Y

159 Merriott SSDC Y

160 Middlezoy Sedgemoor 17/05/22

161 Milborne Port SSDC Y

162 Milverton SWT Y

163 Minehead SWT Y

164 Misterton SSDC Old NALC Y

165 Monksilver SWT

166 Montacute SSDC

167 Mudford SSDC Y

168 Nether Stowey Sedgemoor Y

169 Nettlecombe SWT

170 North Cadbury & Yarlington SSDC Y

171 North Curry SWT Y

172 North Perrott SSDC Y

173 North Petherton Sedgemoor Y

174 North Vale (Holton, Maperton & North Cheriton) SSDC Y

175 North Wootton Mendip Y

176 Norton Fitzwarren SWT Y

177 Norton St Philip Mendip Y

178 Norton Sub Hamdon SSDC DC's Y 14/11/22

179 Nunney Mendip Y

180 Nynehead SWT Y

181 Oake SWT Y

182 Odcombe SSDC Y Feb 20/02/23

183 Old Cleeve SWT Y

184 Othery Sedgemoor Other 

185 Otterford SWT Y

186 Otterhampton Sedgemoor DC's N

187 Over Stowey Sedgemoor Y

188 Pawlett Sedgemoor Y

189 Pen Selwood SSDC Y

Page 107



Somerset Council - Standards Committee
Members' Code of Conduct Checklist

Nam
e

Dist
ric

t

Curre
nt C

ode if
 n

ot S
CC/L

GA

SC
C/L

GA C
ode C

onsid
ere

d Y/
N

SC
C/L

GA C
ode A

dopte
d Y/

N

190 Pilton Mendip Y

191 Pitcombe SSDC Y

192 Pitminster SWT Y

193 Pitney SSDC Y

194 Porlock SWT Y

195 Priddy Mendip Y

196 Puriton Sedgemoor Y

197 Queen Camel SSDC Y

198 Rimpton SSDC

199 Rode Mendip Y

200 Rodney Stoke Mendip Y

201 Ruishton & Thornfalcon SWT Old NALC Y 10/05/22

202 Sampford Arundel SWT

203 Sampford Brett SWT Y

204 Seavington (Seavington St Mary & Seavington St Michael) SSDC

205 Selwood Mendip

206 Selworthy & Minehead Without SWT Other Y undated

207 Shapwick Sedgemoor Y

208 Shepton Beauchamp SSDC Y

209 Shepton Mallet Mendip Y

210 Shepton Montague SSDC Y

211 Shipham Sedgemoor Y

212 Somerton SSDC Y

213 South Cadbury & Sutton Montis SSDC Y

214 South Petherton SSDC Y

215 Sparkford SSDC Y

216 Spaxton Sedgemoor Y

217 St Cuthbert Out Mendip Other N

218 Stawell Sedgemoor Y

219 Stawley SWT Y

220 Stockland Bristol Sedgemoor

221 Stocklinch SSDC Y

222 Stogumber SWT Y

223 Stogursey SWT Y

224 Stoke St Gregory SWT Y

225 Stoke St Mary SWT Other N

226 Stoke St Michael Mendip DC's N 25/03/23

227 Stoke Sub Hamdon SSDC

228 Stoke Trister SSDC NALC Y 12/05/22

229 Ston Easton Mendip Y

230 Stratton on the Fosse Mendip

231 Street Mendip Y

232 Tatworth & Forton SSDC 04/05/23

233 Taunon Town SWT

234 Timberscombe SWT Y

235 Tintinhill SSDC Old NALC Y 11/05/22

236 Trudoxhull Mendip Y

237 Trull SWT Y

238 Thurloxton Sedgemoor Y

239 Upton SWT

240 Walton Mendip Y

241 Wanstrow Mendip DC's N

242 Watchet SWT Y

243 Wayford SSDC Old NALC N

244 Weare Sedgemoor

245 Wedmore Sedgemoor Y

246 Wellington SWT Y

247 Wellington Without SWT Other N

248 Wells Mendip Y

249 Wembdon Sedgemoor Y

250 West and Middle Chinnock SSDC Y

251 West Bagborough SWT Old NALC Y

252 West Buckland SWT Y

Page 108



Somerset Council - Standards Committee
Members' Code of Conduct Checklist

Nam
e

Dist
ric

t

Curre
nt C

ode if
 n

ot S
CC/L

GA

SC
C/L

GA C
ode C

onsid
ere

d Y/
N

SC
C/L

GA C
ode A

dopte
d Y/

N

253 West Camel SSDC Old NALC N

254 West Coker SSDC Y

255 West Crewkerne SSDC Y

256 West Hatch SWT Y

257 West Huntspill Sedgemoor Y

258 West Monkton SWT Y

259 West Pennard Mendip Y

260 West Quantoxhead SWT Y

261 Westbury Sub-Mendip Mendip DC's N 03/05/23

262 Westonzoyland Sedgemoor Y

263 Whatley Mendip Y

264 Williton SWT Y

265 Wincanton SSDC Y

266 Winsford SWT

267 Winsham SSDC Y

268 Witham Friary Mendip

269 Withycombe SWT Y March 06/03/23

270 Withypool & Hawkridge SWT Y

271 Wiveliscombe SWT Y

272 Wookey Mendip Y

273 Woolavington Sedgemoor Y

274 Wootton Courtenay SWT Y

275 Yeovil SSDC

276 Yeovil Without SSDC 15/06/22

277 Yeovilton SSDC

M1 Ash Priors SWT

M2 Blackford and Compton Pauncefort SSDC N

M3 Bratton Seymour SSDC

M4 Chillington SSDC

M5 Chilton Cantelo SSDC

M6 Closworthy SSDC

M7 Cricket St Thomas SSDC

M8 Cucklington SSDC

M9 Cudworth SSDC

M10 Dinnington SSDC

M11 Downhead Mendip

M12 Durston SWT

M13 East Quantoxhead SWT

M14 Elworthy SWT

M15 Emborough Mendip

M16 Greinton Sedgemoor

M17 Isle Brewers SSDC

M18 Kingstone SSDC

M19 Kingweston SSDC

M20 Knowle St Giles SSDC

M21 Lamyatt Mendip

M22 Lullington Mendip

M23 Milton Clevedon Mendip

M24 Moorlinch Sedgemoor

M25 Muchelney SSDC

M26 Oare SWT

M27 Puckington SSDC

M28 Pylle Mendip

M29 Sharpham Mendip

M30 Skilgate SWT

M31 Stringston SWT

M32 Tellisford Mendip

M33 Treborough SWT

M34 Upton Noble Mendip

Parish Meetings

Page 109



Somerset Council - Standards Committee
Members' Code of Conduct Checklist

Nam
e

Dist
ric

t

Curre
nt C

ode if
 n

ot S
CC/L

GA

SC
C/L

GA C
ode C

onsid
ere

d Y/
N

SC
C/L

GA C
ode A

dopte
d Y/

N

M35 Wambrook SSDC

M36 West Bradley
Mendip

M37 Whitelackington SSDC

M38 Whitestaunton SSDC

Page 110



 1 of 3 

Somerset Council 
 
Standards Committee – 28 June 2023 
  
  

 
 

 
Code of Conduct Complaints Update 
Lead Officer: David Clark 
Report Author: David Clark 
Contact Details:  David.clark@somerset.gov.uk 01749 341539 
 

1. Summary  

1.1.  The Localism Act 2011 imposes a duty on local authorities to promote and 
maintain high standards of conduct by members and co-opted members of the 
authority, to adopt a code of conduct governing the behaviour of members of 
the local authority while in office, to make arrangements to investigate and 
make decisions on allegations that the code of conduct has been breached, 
and to appoint one or more independent persons (Independent Persons) 
whose views must be sought and taken into account when deciding on 
breaches of the code of conduct. 

1.2.  The operation of the Council’s arrangements for members’ conduct is 
fundamental to the Council’s compliance with the requirements of the Localism 
Act 2011 and by promoting good ethics the Council is demonstrating its core 
values as contained in the seven principles of public life: selflessness, integrity, 
objectivity, accountability, openness, honesty and leadership. 

1.3.  The functions of the Standards Committee include promoting high standards of 
conduct by Members, Co-opted Members and Officers and monitoring the 
operation of the Members’ Code of Conduct. 

1.4.  In preparation for the transition to Somerset Council the legacy Monitoring 
Officers predicted that approximately 80 Code of Conduct complaints were 
anticipated to be received in 2023/24. These figures were based on the levels 
of complaints historically received at County, District, City, Town & Parish 
Council levels – taking into account the overall reduction in elected members 
following Local Government Reorganisation. 

  

Page 111

Agenda Item 9

mailto:David.clark@somerset.gov.uk


 2 of 3 

 

2. Recommendations 

2.1.  That the Standards Committee: 
Note the numbers of complaints that have been received in the first 10-12 
weeks of Somerset Council. 

 

3. Background 

3.1.  The Council publishes on the website its processes, guidance notes and 
forms for people to make a complaint about an elected member of Somerset 
Council or in a City, Town or Parish Council within the area. 

3.2.  Since 1 April 2023 we have received over 30 code of conduct complaints, in 
addition there were 11 complaints submitted to the legacy councils that has not 
been concluded in advance of vesting day.  

3.3.  Approximately 25% of the complaints submitted since vesting day relate to 
Somerset Councillors albeit 7 complaints are concerned with the same 2 
incidents. 

3.4.  Therefore at the current rate of complaints submission we are on target to 
significantly surpass our predicted levels of complaints. 
 

3.5.  There is no intention for the detail of the complaints to be discussed but if 
Members do wish any further information then a resolution to go into 
confidential session would have to be passed. 

 

4. Options Considered and any consultation undertaken 

4.1.  This report is for information only. 

 

5. Legal, Equalities, Financial and Other Implications 

5.1.  The Council has a legal obligation to maintain high standards of conduct of its 
Members. The effective administration of the code of conduct for members will 
also reduce the risk of reputational harm to the Council and promote good 
governance within the Council. 

5.2.  Following local government reorganisation in Somerset the Council now also 
administers the Code of Conduct complaints process for all City, Town and 
Parish Councils within their area. 

Page 112



 3 of 3 

5.3.  Because the investigation and determination of complaints about breaches of 
the 
code of conduct is quasi-judicial in nature it is important for that processes 
adopted should be fair and transparent. 

 

6. Background papers 

6.1.  None. 

 
 
 
 

Page 113



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	 Public Guidance Notes contained in Agenda Annexe
	 Click here to join the online meeting
	2 Minutes from the Previous Meeting
	Minutes

	3 Declarations of Interest
	5 Priority Group 1 - Code of Conduct Complaints Process and Media Plan
	Appendix 1
	Appendix 2
	Appendix 3
	Complaints against Councillors Process 27.03.23 v2.vsdx
	Page-1


	Appendix 4
	Complaints Process Yes.no.vsdx
	Page-1


	Appendix 5

	6 Priority Group 1 - Committee & Sub-Committee Composition
	Appendix A

	7 Priority Groups 2 & 3 - Model Code of Conduct Adoption by City, Town & Parish Councils and Review of Officer Code of Conduct
	Appendix 1
	Appendix 2

	9 Code of Conduct Complaints Update



